

REPORT of the COMMITTEE ON INFORMATION FROM NON-SELF-GOVERNING TERRITORIES

INIDEXED	GENERAL ASSEMBLY
nii G 1963OFFIC	AL RECORDS : EIGHTEENTH SESSION
NOT SELION	AL RECORDS : EIGHTEENTH SESSION SUPPLEMENT No. 14 (A/5514)
INDEX SEC	

UNITED NATIONS

REPORT

OF THE

COMMITTEE ON INFORMATION FROM NON-SELF-GOVERNING TERRITORIES

GENERAL ASSEMBLY

OFFICIAL RECORDS : EIGHTEENTH SESSION SUPPLEMENT No. 14 (A/5514)



UNITED NATIONS New York, 1963

NOTE

Symbols of United Nations documents are composed of c.pital letters combined with figures. Mention of such a symbol indicates a reference to a United Nations document.

CONTENTS

Page

Abbreviations	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	iv
ADDICVIACIOUS	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	11

Part One

Report of the Committee on Information from Non-Self-Governing Territories

(Fourteenth session, 1963)

	(, - , - , - , - , - , - , - , - , - , - , - , - ,	Paragraphs	
	Introduction	18	1
I.	Officers of the Committee	9	1
II.	Agenda	10	1
III.	Sub-Committee on Economic Advancement	11-12	2
IV.	Preliminary statements	13–17	2
v.	Political and constitutional developments	18-45	2
VI.	Economic advancement	47–59	5
VII.	Educational and social advancement.	60–88	6
VIII.	International collaboration and programmes of technical co-operation	89-99	9
IX.	Questions relating to the transmission of information under Chapter XI of the Charter and the summaries and analyses prepared by the Secretariat	100-112	11
X.	Co-operation with the Special Committee on the Situation with regard to the Implementation of the Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Colonial Countries and Peoples.	113–116	12
XI.	Future work of the Committee	117-134	12
XII.	Adoption of the report	135	14

ANNEXES

Ι.	Agenda o	of the	Commi	ttee	• • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	• • • • • •	•••••	••••	• • • • • •		• • • • • •	 14
II.	Dates of	transi	nission	of	information	•••••	•••••		•••••		• • • • • •		 15

Part Two

Report on Economic Advancement in Non-Self-Governing Territories

		Paragraphs	
	Introduction	1–5	17
I.	General policies and trends	6-36	17
II.	Development planning	37-67	21
III.	Agriculture	6888	23
IV.	Manufacturing industries	89-98	26
v.	Mining	99113	27
VI.	Labour	114-138	28
VII.	External trade	139-166	31

ANNEXES

I.	Studies on economic advancement in Non-Self-Governing Territories	33
II.	Resolution submitted for the consideration of the General Assembly	33
III.	List of Non-Self-Governing Territories under Chapter XI of the Charter at 31 December 1962 classified by geographical region	34

Abbreviations

CICT	Commission on International Commodity Trade
EPTA	Expanded Programme of Technical Assistance
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
GATT	General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade
IBRD	International Bank for Reconstruction and Development
IDA	International Development Association
ILO	International Labour Organisation
TAB	Technical Assistance Board
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
WHO	World Health Organization

REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE ON INFORMATION FROM NON-SELF-GOVERNING TERRITORIES (FOURTEENTH SESSION, 1963)

Introduction

1. By resolution 1847 (XVII), adopted on 19 December 1962, the General Assembly decided "to continue the Committee on Information from Non-Self-Governing Territories on the same basis" as that established by resolution 1700 (XVI) of 19 December 1961, particularly paragraphs 2 and 5 of that resolution. In addition to resolution 1700 (XVI), the basis of the Committee's work, referred to in this resolution, is contained in resolution 1332 (XIII) of 12 December 1958.

2. In accordance with operative paragraph 5 of resolution 1332 (XIII), the Committee is instructed:

"... to examine, in the spirit of Article 1, paragraphs 3 and 4, and of Article 55 of the Charter, the summarie. and analyses of information transmitted under Article 73 e of the Charter on economic, social and educational conditions in the Non-Self-Governing Territories, including any papers prepared by the specialized agencies";

3. Furthermore, by resolution 1700 (XVI), the Committee is instructed:

"2. ... to examine the political and constitutional information transmitted by the Administering Members as well as information relating to functional fields, and submit its reports to the General Assembly with its observations and conclusions thereon;

"3. ... to undertake intensive studies of political, educational, economic and social conditions and problems of Territories locateú in the same area or region, except where circumstances require individual consideration."

4. In the same resolution, the General Assembly requested the Committee to transmit its reports to the Special Committee on the Situation with regard to the Implementation of the Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Colonial Countries and Peoples and "to provide it with pertinent material available to the Committee on Information, including such studies prepared for its consideration as may be required for the discharge of the Special Committee's functions".

5. The Committee consists of fourteen members, seven Member States having responsibility for the transmission of information under Article 73 e of the Charter, and an equal number of other Members elected by the Fourth Committee on behalf of the General Assembly. At the end of 1962 there were two vacancies in the membership of the Committee owing to the expiration of the terms of office of Argentina and Ceylon. However, because of the agreement between the Governments of Indonesia and the Netherlands regarding West New Guinea (West Irian), the Netherlands withdrew from the Committee. Honduras was elected to fill the consequent single vacancy in the membership of the Committee. The present membership is as follows:

Administering Members	
Australia	Spain
France	United Kingdom of Great Britain
New Zealand	and Northern Ireland
Portugal	United States of America
Non-Administering Members	Date of election ¹
Ecuador	
Honduras	
Liberia	1960

Liberia	1960
Mexico	1960
Pakistan	1961
Philippines	1961
Upper Volta	1961

6. The Committee held its fourteenth session at United Nations Headquarters in New York. It held eighteen meetings between 15 April and 10 May 1963. All members except Portugal were represented.

7. The Committee welcomed the presence of indigenous persons from the Non-Self-Governing Territories in the delegation of Spain and the participation of specialist advisers on economic conditions attached to the delegations of Spain, the United Kingdom and the United States in response to the invitation contained in General Assembly resolution 1332 (XIII).²

8. Representatives of the ILO, FAO, UNESCO and WHO also attended the meetings of the Committee and took part in its discussions.

I. Officers of the Committee

9. At its opening (260th) meeting on 15 April 1963, the Committee elected the following officers by acclamation:

Chairman: Mr. D. J. de Piniés (Spain);

Vice-Chairman: Mr. V. A. Hamdani (Pakistan);

Rapporteur: Mr. M. Norrish (New Zealand).

II. Agenda

10. At its 260th meeting, the Committee adopted its provisional agenda. The agenda³ is reproduced as annex I to this report.

 $^{^{1}}$ The term of office of the elected members is normally for three calendar years and expires on 31 December of the relevant year.

² The indigenous representatives from Río Muni and Fernando Póo were Mr. Felipe Esono Nsue and Mr. Augustín Ondo Nchama. The specialist advisers on economic conditions were Mr. José Gómez Durán from Spain, Mr. P. Selwyn from the United Kingdom and Mr. Gilbert White from the United States. ³ A/AC.35/16/Rev.1.

III. Sub-Committee on Economic Advancement

11. At its 264th meeting, the Committee decided to establish a sub-committee with wide terms of reference to prepare a special report on economic advancement in the Non-Self-Governing Territories. The sub-committee was to take into account discussions in the Committee and to draw up observations and conclusions on the basis of all available information.

12. At its 264th meeting, the Chairman appointed Ecuador, Liberia, the Philippines, Spain, the United Kingdom and the United States of America as members of the sub-committee, and the Rapporteur of the Committee and the representatives of the specialized agencies were invited to participate in the work. The subcommittee nominated the Rapporteur as its Chairman. The sub-committee held fifteen meetings between 23 April and 3 May 1963.

IV. Preliminary statements

13. At the 260th meeting, the representative of Spain expressed the reservations of his Government with regard to the transmission of information by the Government of the United Kingdom on Gibraltar over which his Government held sovereignty. The representative of the United Kingdom stated that his Government had no doubts as to its sovereignt over Gibraltar and reserved its rights on the question.

14. At the 261st meeting, the representative of the Philippines reserved the position of his Government with regard to the transmission of information by the United Kingdom on North Borneo over which his Government held sovereignty. The representative of the United Kingdom stated that his Government had no doubts as to its sovereignty over North Borneo and reserved its rights on the question.

15. Later, at the 269th meeting, the representative of the Philippines drew the Committee's attention to certain portions of the Secretariat's report on political and constitutional developments in the Non-Self-Governing Territories. He referred specifically to some passages of the report concerning North Borneo⁴ and gave the Committee an account of his Government's position. He stated that North Borneo was the subject of a dispute between the Philippines and the United Kingdom, and reaffirmed his Government's sovereignty over that Territory.

16. In reply to this statement, the representative of the United Kingdom stated once again that his Government had no doubt as to its sovereignty over North Borneo and reserved his Government's position.

17. At the 266th meeting, the representative of Honduras stated that her delegation regretted that no reference had been made in the Committee to the Swan Islands, over which Honduras claimed sovereign rights for historical and juridical reasons.

V. Political and constitutional developments

18. The Committee had before it the summaries of information on the Non-Self-Governing Territories relating to the year 1961, transmitted by the Administering Members under Article 73 e of the Charter, which contain a section on government.⁵ Political and con-

stitutional information transmitted by the United Kingdom Government, in accordance with its decision, announced at the sixteenth session of the General Assembly, was placed before the Committee in full.⁶ The Committee also had before it a report prepared by the Secretariat giving a review of the policies of the several Administering Members for the political advancement of the Territories under their administration and the manner in which their policies were being implemented.⁷ Where available, information was also in-cluded on the extension of the franchise.

19. The Committee discussed this item from its 267th to 272nd meeting. The Committee's discussions related mainly to the fifty-three Non-Self-Governing Territories on which the Governments of Australia, New Zealand, Spain, the United Kingdom and the United States had transmitted information. Many members regretted that no information on political and constitutional development had been transmitted by the Government of Portugal on Angola, Mozambique, Guinea, called Portuguese Guinea, Cape Verde, São Tomé and Príncipe, Macau and Timor. The Committee considers that the general observations it makes in this report apply equally to these Territories. The representatives of Liberia, Mexico, Pakistan and the Philippines regretted that no information had been transmitted by the United Kingdom on Southern Rhodesia; the representative of Liberia also noted that while France claimed that French Somaliland and the Comoro Archipelago had attained internal autonomy, the Territories were still Non-Self-Governing Territories and France had the obligation to continue to transmit information on them.

20. At the 265th meeting, the representative of the United Kingdom restated the position of his Government that Southern Rhodesia was a self-governing colony and as such it was under no obligation to report on economic, social and educational matters to the United Kingdom Government. Nor did the United Kingdom Government have the right to demand it. The United Kingdom Government therefore could not transmit information it did not possess. In reply to this statement, the representatives of Liberia and Pakistan recalled that the General Assembly had rejected this position and had maintained that the United Kingdom Government was under an obligation to report on Southern Rhodesia.

21. At the 266th meeting, the representative of France stated that French Somaliland and the Comoro Archipelago were considered by the French Government to be self-governing and had exercised their right to self-determination in a referendum based on universal suffrage in October 1958. The only Non-Self-Governing Territory still under French administration was the New Hebrides, which was a Franco-British condominium with respect to which the French Government continued to transmit information.

22. In the course of the discussion, additional information on recent and current political developments in the Territories was supplied to the Committee by the representatives of the Administering Members who commented also on the general policies pursued by their Governments. The representatives of Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom reaffirmed the principles followed by their Governments for the political

⁴ A/AC.35/L.371 and Corr.1, paras. 592 and 596.

⁵ A/5401-A/5404.

⁶ A/5401/Add.1-12, A/5402/Add.1-5, A/5403/Add.1-11, and A/5404/Add.1-4. 7 A/AC.35/L.371 and Corr.1.

development of the Territories under their administration towards the goal of Chapter XI of the Charter.

23. The representative of Australia informed the Committee of the steps taken by his Government in consultation with the people of Papua to prepare them for self-determination. He affirmed that the Australian Government had accepted the principles embodied in Article 73 b of the Charter and that the rate of progress in Papua towards the accepted aim was now being regulated by the desires of the people themselves.

24. In September 1962, the reconstituted Legislative Council of Papua had accepted a suggestion to appoint a Select Committee for the purpose of considering what the next step forward should be and how it might be implemented. The Select Committee, which consisted of three indigenous and two non-indigenous elected members of the Legislative Council, had sought the opinions of all sectors of the population through interviews before drawing up its recommendations. These recommendations had already been approved by the Legislative Council and were being submitted to the Australian Government. The main recommendations were to introduce adu' suffrage with a common electoral roll and to change the Legislature into a House of Assembly in which indigenous members would have a two-thirds majority. If the recommendations were approved by the Australian Parliament, legislation would be introduced to bring the changes into effect in 1964.

25. The representative of New Zealand informed the Committee that his Government aimed at bringing the Cook, Niue and Tckelau Islands to full internal selfgovernment within the next two or three years, and outlined the main steps planned to attain this goal. Owing to the smallness of these islands and to their geographical situation, it had been necessary to develop political institutions to meet their particular needs. Both the Cook Islands and Niue were already well advanced towards self-government. The Legislative Assembly of each of these Territories was elected by universal adult suffrage and had powers to enact laws and to control all public moneys. In July 1962 a tentative time-table had been approved by the two Legislative Assemblies for advancement towards the immediate goal of self-government. The first step was taken later that year with the establishment in each Territory of an Executive Committee elected from the Legislature. Legislation affecting the Cook and Niue Islands was now being reviewed in order to remove progressively the remaining reservations on the territorial powers of legislation. The Executive Committee would be constituted into full-fledged cabinets by 1964. In the Cook Islands this step would be accompanied by the withdrawal of all but one of the nominated members of its Legislative Assembly. According to the plan, final measures would then be taken to enable each Assembly to enjoy full legislative power over internal matters. At that stage it would be for the peoples themselves to decide, in accordance with the principles of the United Nations Charter, on their own constitutional future.

26. The representative of Spain stated that the constitutional and political development of the Territories under the administration of his Government was set out in the information it had transmitted.⁸ Following enactment of the Act of 30 July 1959 (as well as the

Decrees of 31 March, 1960, 7 April 1960 and the Act of 21 April 1961) the Spanish Territories in Africa now had exactly the same juridical status as the Peninsula Provinces, and all inhabitants, irrespective of race, enjoyed equal rights. In Fernando Póo and Río Muni, where there was the largest settled population, the inhabitants participated in local government through elected councils at the village, municipal and provincial level. Popular elections to municipal councils had been held in 1961 and again in 1962, when half the membership had been changed. In the elections for municipal and provincial councillors, heads of families and representatives of cultural and occupational groups took part. The fact that Fernando Póo and Río Muni (Spanish Equatorial Africa) had the status of provinces did not deprive their inhabitants of the right to self-determination. In this connexion, he recalled the statement of the Spanish representative at the 1177th meeting of the General Assembly that "Spaniards respect self-determination more than anyone, but that self-determination must be genuine", and that in reference to Spanish Equatorial Africa:

"... if because of the remoteness of the area in which the inhabitants live or because of their special human characteristics they should one day wish to change their present status and the majority decided in favour of such a course, Spain would place no obstacle in the way of working out the future of these provinces with them."

27. At the 271st meeting, the representative of Spain, replying to a question by the representative of Liberia, further clarified the position of his Government on the question of the self-determination of Fernando Póo and Río Muni. He considered that selfdetermination was genuine when it reflected the authentic expression of the will of those who were to exercise the right of self-determination, and the Spanish constitutional law made provisions for such an expression. In reply to a further question by the representative of Liberia as to whether the right of the people to self-determination also applied to the Spanish Sahara, the representative of Spain explained that as that Territory had a nomadic population which fluctuated between 4,000 and 24,000, it would be difficult to hold consultations with the inhabitants. He stated that he would draw his Government's attention to the request of the representative of Liberia for clarification.

The representative of the United Kingdom recalled that his Government regarded the main Territories as embryonic nations and that it was fundamental to the British approach that each Territory should advance towards self-government or independence along its own lines and not in accordance with any over-all, preconceived plan. As much responsibility as possible was devolved upon the territorial authorities: the executive was given a wide measure of autonomy and the territorial legislatures were given the right to make laws for internal affairs. The process of advance towards self-government consisted, therefore, of the increased participation of the local inhabitants in the legislative and executive bodies, coupled with the extension of the franchise towards the goal of universal adult suffrage. At each stage of this advance towards selfgovernment, the measures taken were based on consultations between the United Kingdom Government and the representatives of the peoples of the Territory concerned; and the contribution made by the representatives of the people increased until the final stage, when

⁸ Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixteenth Session, Supplement No. 15 (A/4785), part one, annex V; documents A/5078/Add.3 and A/5401.

the establishment of a constitution was almost exclusively for them to decide.

29. The representative of the United Kingdom cited examples of developments in the Territories using the past year which showed the progress made in their advance towards self-government and independence; he discussed in particular the increase of indigenous representation in the executive and the holding of elections on the basis of a broader franchise. Nyasaland as a result of a Constitutional Conference held in November 1962, now had a self-governing Constitution. The Prime Minister was Dr. Hastings Banda, who headed a cabinet of eight elected ministers and one *ex officio* minister. There had also been increased participation of elected indigenous representatives in the executive in Aden, Kenya and Northern Rhodesia. Both

den and Kenya now had a council of ministers. Gend elections were to be held in Kenya in May 1963, after which Kenya would have a full-fledged cabinet and a prime minister.

30. In Gambia and Grenada, new elections had been held to the legislatures on the basis of universal adult franchise, and in the Bahamas on the basis of a universal adult franchise with a limited plural vote on a property basis. In Zanzibar, recent legislation had removed the previous literacy and property franchise qualifications and the next elections, which it was hoped would be held in July 1963, would be on the basis of universal adult franchise. In Fiji, property and income qualifications had been eliminated and the vote had been extended to women. In Bermuda, new elections were being held on the basis of universal suffrage for persons over twenty-five years of age and a limited second vote for landowners.

31. Consultations regarding the final stages of advance of a Territory generally took the form of a constitutional conference. The Swaziland Conference had opened in January 1963, and other conferences were scheduled to discuss in the near future the constitutional advance of the Bahamas, the formation of a new West Indies federation (comprising the seven Territories of Antigua, Barbados, Dominica, Montserrat, St. Kitts-Nevis-Anguilla, St. Lucia and St. Vincent), the advance of British Honduras to full internal self-government and the request of Malta for independence.

32. The representative of the United States of America stated that although American Samoa, Guam and the United States Virgin Islands were situated far from the North American continent, the inhabitants of these Territories wished to attain internal self-government under the United States Constitution and in full agreement with the United States. All these Territories already had legislatures which had been popularly elected on the basis of universal suffrage and which had full legislative powers in local matters, including budgetary questions. These legislatures also had the power to approve or reject cabinet members or departmental heads designated by the Governor, who was appointed by the United States Government. In both Guam and the Virgin Islands, political parties played a major role in the elections. In all these Territories the majority of the civil service was indigenous, and in both the Virgin Islands and Guam the Governors were also indigenous. New legislation was projected which would enable the people of each Territory to elect their own governor.

33. The Committee records its satisfaction that since its last session, Jamaica, Trinidad and Tobago and Uganda have become independent States and Members of the United Nations.

34. The information before the Committee at its current session showed that at the end of 1962 the fifty-two Territories on which information had been transmitted by the Administering Members were at various stages of political development. At one end of the scale were Territories in which representative institutions were developed and the inhabitants already had a substantial measure of internal self-government. These included the Territories of Guam, American Samoa and the Virgin Islands under United States administration; Papua under Australian administration: Cook and Niue Islands under New Zealand administration; Barbados, British Guiana, Malta, Mauritius and Singapore, and, by the end of 1962, Kenya and Nyasaland under United Kingdom administration. At the other end of the scale were Territories such as Hong Kong where both legislative and executive powers were still held by the Governor. In Swaziland the only representative institutions took the form of advisory bodies, constituted on an ethnic basis.

35. Most of the Territories were at some intermediate stage of development with varying degrees of indigenous representation in the legislative and executive bodies. In many Territories there was still an equal number of official and unofficial members in both the executive and legislative bodies; but as the unofficial members were not necessarily indigenous inhabitants, the latter often formed a minority. In some of these Territories the indigenous representatives were nominated; in others, they were elected indirectly through traditional institutions; and in still others they were elected on the basis of some form of qualified franchise.

36. The Territories administered by Spain, however, which were constitutionally overseas provinces of the metropolitan country, represented a separate line of political development. In these Territories it was the position of Spain that the increased participation of the indigenous inhabitants in the administration of their own affairs was to be related to their educational advancement.⁹

37. The Committee observes that the political and constitutional advance of the Non-Self-Governing Territories generally varies in accordance with the concept of the Administering Member concerned of the final objective to be attained within the context of Chapter XI of the Charter. The Committee reaffirms its view, expressed in 1962, that care should be taken not to impose any particular political system or pattern of institutions but rather that power should be given to the people to fashion for themselves the institutions which they consider most appropriate to their circumstances.¹⁰

38. The Committee therefore welcomes the acknowledgement by the Administering Members who took part in this session of the Committee of the applicability of the principle of self-determination to the peoples in the Territories under their administration. It notes that in a number of Territories further steps are being planned to bring the people to the final stages of selfgovernment in accordance with the obligations of the Administering Members under Chapter XI of the Charter and in the implementation of the Declaration

⁹ See para. 65.

¹⁰ Official Records of the General Assembly, Seventeenth Session, Supplement No. 15 (A/5215), para. 51.

on the granting of independence to colonial countries and peoples. The Committee endorses the principle that the advance of the Territories should be in accordance with the wishes of the people and that political institutions should be kept under review in order to ensure that they meet the needs of the Territories.

39. The representative of Liberia pointed out that in Territories where the indigenous inhabitants had imited participation in the representative institutions, it was incumbent on the Administering Member to adopt energetic measures providing for their increased participation and to ensure that any political and constitutional changes introduced were in keeping with the aspirations of the indigenous people.

40. The Committee welcomes the introduction of universal adult franchise in Territories where previously property, income and other qualifications restricted the vote. It urges that the remaining franchise restrictions which tend to operate in favour of minority groups should be speedily removed.

41. The Committee finds that while there has been increased participation of the indigenous inhabitants in the executive and legislative organs of a number of Territories, in many others, indigenous representation is not yet adequate, and in some, for instance Swaziland, a parity still exists between the representation of the minority European community and the indigenous population. Northern Rhodesia also reflects a situation where the representation of various races in the Territory is not proportional to their numbers. Several members of the Committee pointed out that this situation was unsatisfactory and expressed the view that properly balanced representation could be established only after universal adult suffrage had been introduced.

42. The representative of Mexico stated that his Government had always welcomed all efforts by the peoples of the Non-Self-Governing Territories to attain independence and it considered that the political progress was real only when the inhabitants of a Territory had the right to vote and were eligible for all public offices. i.e., when universal adult suffrage existed without any restriction based on race. scx, religion, education or economic circumstances.

43. The representative of Ecuador considered that in granting people the right to self-determination it was also necessary to give them the assurance that their freely expressed wishes would be respected regarding both the form of the political institutions they chose and their right to enter into federations and other types of political unions.

44. The representative of Pakistan emphasized the need for accelerating the pace of political development of the Non-Self-Governing Territories, irrespective of the pattern of advance set by the Administering Member concerned.

45. In its 1962 report, the Committee drew attention to the possibility that some of the smaller Territories could attain independence through federations or unions of Territories or States. At this session, several members commented on the vulnerability of the economies of most of the small Territories and the prevailing political stagnation. They urged the Administering Members concerned to provide increased assistance to these Territories to make them economically viable and to enable them more rapidly to attain full selfgovernment. It was also suggested that the Committee should give more attention to the conditions prevailing in these Territories. The Committee welcomes the information by the United Kingdom that a conference will be held later this year to reach decisions on the formation of a federation of the West Indies. The Committee considers also that the advance of the Cook and Niue Islands towards full self-government shows that small isolated islands can also achieve political progress with the assistance of the Administering Member.

46. In conclusion, the Committee wishes to record its view that while a number of Territories have moved closer to the goal of self-government and independence during the past year, much still needs to be done. It was pointed out in the Committee that delay in meeting the aspirations of the peoples for a greater degree of political power had sometimes led to violence. The Committee hopes that every effort will be made by the Administering Members to enable the remaining Territories under their administration to attain full selfgovernment as soon as possible.

VI. Economic advancement

47. At its fourteenth session, the Committee once more gave special attention to questions of economic advancement in Non-Self-Governing Territories. In response to resolution 1332 (XIII) and other pertinent resolutions, economic advisers were included in the delegations of Spain, the United Kingdom and the United States of America.

48. In addition to the summaries of the information transmitted¹¹ the Committee had before it special studies prepared by the Secretariat on major economic trends,¹² development planning and land reform,¹³ some economic activities in selected Non-Self-Governing Territories¹⁴ and labour conditions in Non-Self-Governing Territories.¹⁵ It also had before it a report on IBRD leans and IDA credits for projects in Non-Self-Governing Territories.¹⁶ and additional information provided by the United Kingdom on land tenure reform in the African lands of Kenya.¹⁷

49. The Committee discussed economic advancement in Non-Self-Governing Territories (item 5 of its agenda) from its 261st to its 270th meeting inclusive. As indicated in paragraphs 11 and 12 above, at its 264th meeting, it established a sub-committee to draw up a report on economic advancement in the Non-Self-Governing Territories.

50. The representatives of the Administering Members opened the discussion in the Committee with a review of the economic policies and trends of development in the Territories under their administration and described measures taken, to bring about and maintain a steady rate of economic growth. The representatives of Australia, New Zealand, Spain and the United States explained that the Territories under their administration had small populations and limited resources, and were therefore dependent to a considerable extent on financial subsidies from the Metropolitan Governments. The representative of the United Kingdom noted that his Government also provided financial assistance in respect of the recurrent expenditure of a number of Territories under its administra-

 12 A/AC.35/L.368.

19	A/AC.35/L.309.	
14	A/AC.35/L.370	

14 A	/AC.35	/L.370.
15 A	/AC.35	/L.375.

15 A	/AC.35/L.3	375.
	/AC.35 'L.3	

¹¹ See para. 18 above.

tion which were in a similar situation, particularly some of the smaller Territories in Southern Africa, the Caribbean area and the Pacific Ocean. All the Administering Members affirmed that it was the continuing policy of their Gove...ments to foster the economic development of the Territories, particularly through the improvement of agriculture, the development of suitable industries, and the provision of financial and technical assistance to help the populations of the Territories to attain a higher standard of living.

51. Among the non-Administering Members, the representatives of Ecuador, Honduras, Liberia, Mexico, Pakistan and the Philippines took part in the discussions. Several of the non-Administering Members recalled the Declaration on the granting of independence to colonial countries and peoples and considered that the rapid evolution of dependent Territories towards self-government was a vital part of the campaign to overcome all forms of under-development.

52. The Committee's discussion this year centred mainly on the rate of progress in the Territories and the extent to which the economic position of the indigenous inhabitants had been improved. The Committee was concerned that the available information showed that since 1959 economic activities in the Non-Self-Governing Territories had in general continued to rise at a slower rate than in the earlier 1950's; that most of the Territories were particularly affected by fluctuations in world market prices because they were still dependent to a considerable degree on exports c a narrow range of primary products, and that in a few Territories the approach of independence had been accompanied by an economic setback due to the slowing down of the inflow of new investments, and in some cases by an outward transfer of capital.

53. Among other problems, the Committee was also concerned that the information showed that the majority of the indigenous inhabitants had not yet been drawn into the more advanced sectors of the economic life of many of the Territories. Moreover, in Territories where the population included a substantial number of non-indigenous inhabitants, a considerable disparity existed between the *per capita* income of the indigenous and non-indigenous groups, in spite of a generally rising trend in indigenous wages.

54. The report prepared by the Secretariat on development planning and land tenure gave an account of the situation in a number of selected Territories. The representatives of the ILO and WHO informed the Committee of the interest taken by their organizations, the activities provided to assist Member States in development planning and the provisions made for assistance to Member States in this field. The WHO considered that health planning should be regarded as an essential part of an integrated plan for general economic development.

55. The representative of the ILO emphasized the importance of taking into full account the "human resources"-through the level of productivity, vocational education and training, management development and related questions-in the planning of economic advancement.

56. These and other problems connected with the economic advancement of the Non-Self-Governing Territories were discussed in detail by the Sub-Committee which, on the basis of its broad terms of reference, drew up observations and conclusions for approval by the

Committee. In this work, the Sub-Committee was assisted by the representatives of the specialized agencies.

57. At its 277th meeting on 10 May 1963, the Committee approved the report prepared by the Sub-Committee which forms part two of the present report.

58. At the same meeting the Committee considered a draft resolution jointly sponsored by Liberia, New Zealand, Pakistan and Spain.¹⁸ Under the terms of this draft resolution, the General Assembly would approve the report on economic advancement in Non-Self-Governing Territories and invite the Secretary-General to communicate it to the Administering Members, to the Special Committee on the Situation with regard to the Implementation on the Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Colonial Countries and Peoples, to the Economic and Social Council, to the regional commissions, to the Trusteeship Council and to the specialized agencies concerned for their consideration. The General Assembly would further express its confidence that the Administering Members would bring the report to the attention of the authorities responsible for economic advancement in the Territories.

59. The Committee unanimously approved the draft resolution for transmission to the General Assembly. The text of the draft resolution is reproduced as annex II of part two of this report.

VII. Educational and social advancement

60. The Committee had before it two reports prepared by UNESCO, one containing observations on secondary education in Non-Self-Governing Territories19 and the other report on the elimination of illiteracy.20 It also had before it a report prepared by the Secretariat on labour conditions²¹ and a background paper on health facilities in the Non-Self-Governing Territories.22 In its discussions the Committee took into account the information contained in the summaries of information transmitted under Article 73 e of the Charter for 1961.

The Committee discussed this item from its 269th to its 273rd, and at its 275th meeting. Statements were made by the representatives of Australia, Ecuador, Honduras, Liberia, New Zealand, Mexico, the Philippines, Spain, the United Kingdom and the United States of America.23

62. At the 269th meeting, the representative of UNESCO introduced the documents his Organization had submitted. He explained that the observations on secondary education in Non-Self-Governing Territories supplemented the report²⁴ UNESCO had submitted to the Committee at its previous session. These observations on secondary education were made with special reference to the preparation of middle and upper level personnel and, in particular, the training of teachers at the secondary and higher level. The UNESCO had analysed the value of secondary education in many Non-Self-Governing Territories and drawn a number

¹⁸ A/AC.35/L.382. ¹⁹ A/AC.35/L.372. ²⁰ A/AC.35/L.373. ²¹ A/AC.35/L.375. ²⁹ N.

²² Not produced as a Committee document.

²² Not produced as a Committee document. ²³ These statements were made at the following meetings; Australia, 271st and 273rd meeting; Ecuador, 472nd meeting; Honduras, 270th meeting; Liberia, 271st meeting; New Zealand, 271st meeting; Mexico, 269th meeting; Philippines, 275th meet-ing; Spain, 270th meeting; United Kingdom, 269th meeting; and United States, 273rd meeting. ³⁴ A/AC.35/L.356.

of conclusions. The representative of UNESCO also informed the Committee that on the proposal of the Director-General of his Organization, the Economic and Social Council had decided to include in its agenda an item entitled "World Literacy Campaign"; the report of UNESCO on its activities to eliminate illiteracy in the Territories might therefore be of particular interest to the Committee.

63. The UNESCO information on secondary education showed that secondary enrolments expressed as a percentage of the population groups aged 15 to 19 years fell below 10 per cent level in the African Territories, the only exceptions being the islands of Mauritius, St. Helena and Seychelles. The Asian and Pacific Territories had secondary enrolments exceeding 10 per cent except for certain island Territories, including Papua, the New Hebrides and the Solomon Islands, where the ratio was about 2 per cent. In the Caribbean area, the secondary enrolment averaged about 20 per cent.

64. The ratio of secondary to primary enrolment showed substantially the same differences between regions. However, some exceptions to the general pattern emerged for Territories where there had been a lack of development at the primary level, as in Gambia, for instance, where the secondary enrolment ratio to the primary appeared unduly favourable. On the other hand, where some recent expansion in school facilities had occurred, mainly at the primary level (e.g., Fiji, Northern Rhodcsia and the Windward Islands), the secondary enrolments averaged less than 10 per cent or even 5 per cent of the primary enrolment. Secondary enrolment expressed as a percentage of primary enrolment for the school year beginning 1961 was 2 per cent in Basutoland, 3 per cent in Kenya, one per cent in Nyasaland, and 3 per cent in the Spanish Equatorial region. In the Caribbean region, except for Antigua, Bermuda and Dominica, where it was higher, the secondary enrolment ranged from 4 to 9 per cent of that of the primary level. The UNESCO figures for higher education were available for only three Territories in Africa, two in Asia, one in the Pacific, and for Malta. In contrast to the situation in Hong Kong and Singapore where the number of students at the higher level numbered over 6,000, there were less than 200 in Basutoland, less than 500 in Kenya and less than 100 in Mauritius.

65. The representatives of Australia, New Zealand, Spain, the United Kingdom and the United States reported on educational and social advancement in the Territories under their administration. The representatives of Australia, New Zealand, Spain and the United Kingdom emphasized the importance their Governments attached to the development of education as one of the most significant factors in the progress of the Territories towards full self-government. The representative of Spain stated that his Government was on record as to the great importance it attached to the diffusion of culture in the equatorial region which would enable the inhabitants to administer and direct their own affairs. The Committee wishes to reaffirm that, rather than obscuring the importance of educational development, the Declaration on the granting of independence to colonial countries and peoples makes it even more necessary for more vigorous efforts to be taken by the Administering Members in this field.

66. The Committee, at its present session, discussed the importance of secondary education and its relationship to primary education as a means of accelerating the advance of the Territories towards the goal of selfgovernment and independence. The Committee welcomes the information provided by the Administering Members on the progress attained in the expansion of school facilities and the increase in school enrolment. It notes that in the Cook Islands and Niue there is universal, compulsory and free education and that all children begin school at the age of six; that the Territory of Papua is approaching a break-through in education; that in all the Territories under United States administration education is provided through at least twelve years of schooling for those who qualify, and that illiteracy has largely been eliminated. It further notes that in several of the Territories under United Kingdom administration education is already the responsibility of elected ministers and that in most Territories considerable progress has been made in the expansion of primary school attendance which in Kenya, for instance, amounted to 90 per cent of the boys and some 50 per cent of the girls in 1961.

67. The representative of Spain informed the Committee that in its Territories in the equatorial region in the past ten years there had been an increase of 40 per cent in the number of schools, 58 per cent in the number of teachers, and 312 per cent in the number of pupils. In reply to a question from the representative of Liberia, the representative of Spain undertook to supply further information on these figures.

68. The representatives of Ecuador, Mexico and the Philippines considered that the Administering Members had a special responsibility under Chapter XI to develop education in the Non-Self-Governing Territories. These representatives pointed out that, in spite of the progress in raising school enrolment, in most Territories primary education was not yet universal, free and compulsory. Serious shortages continued to exist in school facilities and more particularly in teaching staff. These representatives and the representative of Honduras stressed that constitutional development and economic progress called for unceasing and vigorous action in the field of education.

69. The Committee wishes to emphasize once again the need for more rapid expansion of secondary education, teacher training, and for technical and administrative personnel. The Committee notes from the UNESCO report on secondary education that there is a wide range of patterns in technical and vocational training in the Territories, but that there is a trend towards providing more general education or, alternatively, towards treating technical education as one stream of general secondary education. The Committee endorses the view expressed by UNESCO that the vocational and technical training programmes must be drawn up in relation to the development of industry and an apprenticeship system. The Committee notes that in Northern Rhodesia, African and European students are not offered the same opportunities for training in industry and that a commission studying this problem has suggested that in the country's interest there should be identical educational objectives for both groups.

70. One of the problems with which the Committee has long been concerned is the question of discrimination in education. At this session the attention of the Committee was again drawn by the representatives of Ecuador, T iberia and the Philippines to the continued existence A various forms of discrimination in educa-

tion in some of the Territories although the problem was less serious at the secondary level and above. The representative of the United Kingdom told the Committee that at these levels integration had made considerable progress in the United Kingdom Territories and every effort was being made to eliminate any considerations of ethnic origin in education. As an example, he described the steps taken in Kenya to implement this policy. Both the representative of Australia and of the United Kingdom stated, however, that because of language and cultural differences certain difficulties still remained in the integration at the primary school level.

71. The representative of Ecuador pointed out that, apart from separate school systems, other subtle forms of discrimination remained, for example, the language of instruction was often that of the Administering Member, the terminal examinations were not the same for European and indigenous children and different subsidies were paid to schools serving different ethnic groups. He recognized that, while in some cases, the multiplicity of indigenous languages, different religious practices and selfishness born of feelings of racial superiority constituted obstacles to integration, he expressed the hope that the Administering Members would intensify their efforts to bring an end to all forms of discrimination.

72. The representative of the Philippines recalled the Committee's conclusion at its tenth session in 1959 that on no grounds whatsoever could education on a racial basis be justified. The Committee had expressed the hope that efforts towards the abolition of racial discrimination in education would be pursued with the greatest possible vigour.

73. The Committee has for many years emphasized the importance of the establishment in the Territories of institutions of higher education wherever this was feasible. It welcomes the comprehensive survey being made by the Government of Australia of the future needs for terriary education in the Territory under its administration and the means of meeting those needs.

74. The Committee endorses the ideas and principles put forward by UNESCO for the educational advancement of the Non-Self-Governing Territories, as set out below. It commends these to the attention of all the Administering Members:

"(a) Every country and territory needs a plan for development, within the framework of which education must be planned. The balance decided within the educational system will vary from territory to territory. This is influenced by expectations of political evolution as well as by forecasts of social and economic needs. The education plan of each territory would also have to be related to the emergent regional education plans. As a means of achieving the educational goals set, the school curricula have to be reconstructed.

"(b) In secondary education, reforms may be difficult but are all the more important. The secondary school does not have as its sole, or even its main, function the preparation of students for higher education. Agriculture, commerce, industry, as well as the administration, require recruits from the secondary school. The programmes of such subjects as the sciences, in particular, need to be closely related to local realities. Specific vocational education should be based upon as much general education as it is possible to provide. In this regard, the recommendation on technical and vocational education adopted by the General Conference of UNESCO at its twelfth session (1962) may be found a useful guide.

"(c) Measures to remove discrimination in education, whatever the grounds, should be encouraged and increased. It is only by making the best use of all available talents in the territory that secondary education can adequately contribute to progress.

"(d) Every effort should be made to raise the status of teachers economically, socially and professionally, in order that able people may be attracted to and retained in the profession."

75. The Committee also commends to the attention of the Administering Members concerned the targets adopted for secondary education by meetings of the Ministers of Education of African Countries (Addis Ababa, 1961, and Paris, 1962) at which a number of Non-Self-Governing Territories were represented. The goal set for attainment by 1980 is to ensure secondary schooling for 30 per cent of the pupils completing primary education; or to enrol in secondary schools some 23 per cent of the population between the ages of 15 and 19. The Committee hopes that efforts will be made by the Administering Members, wherever possible, to start the Territories on the road to attainment of this goal.

76. The Committee notes with concern that in most of the Non-Self-Governing Territories where illiteracy exists, programmes for its eradication are limited to a few small areas, largely because adult education has not yet been accepted as a responsibility of the Government. Furthermore, while the necessity for over-all government action is being recognized, illiteracy continues to be a major problem in the Territories because of inadequate resources to combat it. The Committee endorses and commends to the attention of the Administering Members the view expressed by UNESCO that literacy education, especially as part of a wellconceived programme of adult education, is an essential element in the national education system.

77. The Committee also draws the attention of the Administering Members to the suggestion made by UNESCO that the long-term planning for the United Nations Development Decade should include provisions for the elimination of mass illiteracy in the Non-Self-Governing Territories.²⁵

78. The Committee wishes to reiterate the view that speedy educational advancement in the Territories is usually obtained only when there is the widest and fullest participation of indigenous inhabitants in the bodies entrusted with the establishment of educational policies and programmes and empowered to vote on educational budgets.

79. The Committee considers that another important aspect in promoting education in a Territory is the proper formulation of school curricula which should be adjusted to the needs of the people and not simply follow the curricula adopted in the metropolitan countries.

80. At the 270th meeting, the representative of WHO informed the Committee of the activities of his organization in the Non-Self-Governing Territories.²⁶ He recalled that at its fifteenth session the World Health Assembly had authorized the Director-General of WHO to implement an accelerated programme for

²⁵ A/AC.35/L.373, para. 42.

 $^{^{26}}$ See also paras. 54 and 90 in part one and paras. 64-66 in part two of the present report.

assisting *inter alia* emerging States, concentrating on national health planning and related training, med^{*}cal education and training of national staff, and, lastly, providing operational assistance. Two other resolutions were adopted which are relevant to the Committee's work. One concerned malaria eradication, and stressed the need for the development of a health infrastructure; the other concerned the World Food Programme and called attention to the role of endemic diseases in aggravating malnutrition, reiterating WHO's readiness to provide assistance in this field.

81. The representatives of Australia, New Zealand, the United Kingdom and the United States gave the Committee a general review of the social situation in the Territories under their administration.

82. The representative of Australia described recent measures taken to improve the public health situation in Papua as a result of which infant mortality had been reduced and life expectancy increased. Plans had been drawn up for the next five years for an increase in public health facilities and staff and in maternity and child welfare centres.

83. New legislation had been introduced regulating industrial relations. Since 1962, further measures had been taken to repeal the remaining legislation of a discriminatory character. Legislation regulating the consumption of spirits and beer had recently been modified to bring about equality between indigenous and nonindigenous persons and there was now a uniform censorship for films shown to Australian and indigenous persons and all were able to use the same cinemas.

84. The representative of New Zealand summarized the general social situation in the islands under New Zealand administration where the traditional social organization remained largely intact with strong family ties and its own system of social security. Destitution was almost unknown and crime and delinquency rates were low. The social or community development services were mainly concerned with organizing adult education and with health and housing questions. As a result of progress made in the public health programme, it was now possible to foresee the time when a number of endemic diseases would be brought under complete control.

85. The representative of the United Kingdom stressed the interrelationship of education and social progress and the importance of the elimination of illiteracy in the implementation of plans of development. He pointed out that details of measures taken in the fields of labour, public health, housing and social welfare were included in the summaries of information transmitted by his Government. He drew attention to the additional provisions recently made for the training of workers in community development and social casework, and enumerated some examples of the courses provided.

86. The representative of the United States told the Committee that the Territories under the administration of his Government all had a highly homogeneous population as a result of which there were few racial and cultural problems. The social security laws of the United States were in force in each of the Territories, and local legislation had been enacted establishing minimum wages and hours, regulating child labour and providing for unemployment compensation. Both Guam and the United States Virgin Islands had modern and adequate hospital facilities which were being expanded to provide for the needs of the growing population. In American Samoa a survey of the Territory's existing facilities and future needs had recently been completed and would be used as the basis of reconstruction work in the near future. In each of the United States Territories fundamental human rights were protected not only by the Federal Constitution but also by local legislative and judicial guarantees.

87. The Secretariat had prepared for this session of the Committee a summary of labour conditions in the Non-Self-Governing Territories relating particularly to manpower and employment, employers' and workers' organizations, wages and conditions of work, and labour administration and labour inspection. The Committee notes from this summary that the main features common to the Non-Self-Governing Territories are the following: (a) although wage-earning employment has become wide-spread in a number of Territories, in many others, a large part of the population is engaged mainly in subsistence production or the production of cash crops as independent farmers, so that only a small proportion is solely dependent on wage earning; (b) indigenous workers are mostly employed in unskilled occupations and in a large number of Territories, the majority, or at least a substantial proportion, of the wage earners are engaged in agricultural work; and (c) in Territories where migration for employment and settlement has created plural societies, there are, in some cases, integrated trade unions, while in others trade unions have developed and continued on a racial basis. At the present stage of development, therefore, government policy and regulations are important in encouraging and protecting the organization of labour.

88. In its consideration of social questions the Committee bore in mind the close relationship which exists between social and political advancement. The Committee's views on the role of health, manpower and education in development planning appear in sections II and VI of its special report on economic advancement.²⁷

VIII. International collaboration and programmes of technical co-operation

89. The Committee had before it a report prepared by the Secretariat on international collaboration for economic, social and educational advancement. including programmes of United Nations technical co-operation,²⁸ a report on IBRD loans and IDA credits for projects in Non-Self-Governing Territories. prepared by IBRD,29 and a report on services to Non-Self-Governing Territories in 1962, prepared by UNESCO.³⁰ The Committee also had before it a document submitted by UNESCO³¹ concerning the implementation of resolution 8.2, adopted by the General Conference at its eleventh session, "The role of UNESCO in contributing to the attainment of independence by colonial countries and peoples". The Secretariat report summarized some decisions and studies made by the Economic and Social Council and its commissions and gave an account of regional cooperation and international technical assistance to Non-Self-Governing Territories.

²⁷ Part two of the present report.

²⁸ A/AC.35/L.377.

²⁹ A/AC.35/L.376.

³⁰ A/AC.35/L.374.

³¹ UNESCO: 12 C/27 of 10 October 1962.

90. The Committee considered this item at its 269th, 270th and 272nd to 276th meetings. Statements were made by the representatives of Australia, Ecuador, the Philippines, the United Kingdom and the United States, and by representatives of the specialized agencies. The representative of the ILO, at the 269th meeting, and the representative of WHO, at the 270th meeting, reviewed the activities of their organizations and the assistance provided to the Non-Self-Governing Territories.

91. The Committee notes with particular interest the participation of many of the United Kingdom Territories as associate members of the regional economic commissions. It welcomes the recent admission to associate membership in ECA of Mauritius and of Fernando Póo and Río Muni. The Committee also welcomes the importance attached by the Administering Members to the participation of the Non-Self-Governing Territories in international bodies, in accordance with resolution 1466 (XIV) of 12 December 1959, and expresses the hope that they will extend the opportunity for such participation by the Territories, either individually or as a group.

92. The Committee considers that the African Institute for Economic Development, the African Development Bank, the proposed African Institute of Public Administration and the planned African Common Market are of particular importance to the Territories in Africa. The Committee hopes that all the Administering Members will provide for the full participation of all the Territories under their administration in these bodies, as well as similar bodies, as appropriate, in the regions of Asia, the Pacific Ocean and the Caribbean area.

93. The Committee notes from the report submitted by IBRD that over the years the Bank has made a number of loans for projects to Non-Self-Governing Territories, many of which have since become fully independent. Among the Territories or groups of Territories which are now receiving IBRD loans and IDA credits, are: Southern Rhodesia, Northern Rhodesia, the East Africa High Commission, Kenya, British Guiana, Swazilar.d and the Federation of Rhodesia and Nyasaland. The loans to Kenya and British Guiana are for agricultural development and land settlement; most of the other loans are for railway, harbour and power development. The Committee welcomes the assistance provided through these loans to the Non-Self-Governing Territories, many of which, however, have a substantial European settlement, and urges the extension of financial assistance to a wider range of Non-Self-Governing Territories. The Committee's 1963 special report on economic advancement points out that in many Territories the rate of development expenditure in the public sector is mainly limited by the lack of financial resources and it discusses in some detail the role of external investment in their economic development.82

94. The Committee took note of the comprehensive and detailed information submitted on programmes of international technical assistance to Non-Self-Governing Territories. It notes that the programmes approved for these Territories by TAB under EPTA increased from \$2.4 million for 1961-1962 to \$3.6 million for 1963-1964, representing an increase of over 53 per cent. Furthermore, it notes that in contrast to the predominance of programmes for health services in previous years, there is a greater diversification of the type of assistance provided to Non-Self-Governing Territories with a notable increase in assistance to Governments on development planning. The Committee observes that this trend towards a wider range of assistance is closely in line with the economic growth of the Territories.

95. Although the number of experts assigned and fellowships awarded under EPTA to the Non-Self-Governing Territories represents a small fraction of the total global programme, the number of experts to these Territories increased from 75 in 1962 to 151 in 1963 and the fellowships awarded increased from 18 to 50. In addition, 30 experts and 17 fellowships were approved for 1963 under the United Nations regular programme of technical assistance.

96. The Committee wishes to record its appreciation of the assistance provided to the Non-Self-Governing Territories by the specialized agencies, and expresses the hope that this assistance will be continued and expanded. The Committee suggests that areas in which the assistance of the specialized agencies may be particularly valuable include assistance by UNESCO for the promotion of universal, free and compulsory primary education; the improvement of secondary education and professional and technical training, and especially the widening of campaigns for the elimination of illiteracy; assistance by WHO for the development and implementation of general health programmes, campaigns against endemic diseases and teaching about health; by UNICEF in all fields of child and material welfare; by FAO for the improvement of agricultural technology, better utilization of soil, agrarian reform, and in the world campaign against hunger; and by the ILO for the application in the Non-Self-Governing Territories of international labour standards and for the preparation of labour legislation.

97. The Committee welcomes the increased programmes of multilateral financial and/or technical assistance to Non-Self-Governing Territories, including, for instance, the South Pacific Commission, the Colombo Plan, the Foundation for Mutual Assistance (FAMA) of the Commission for Technical Co-operation in Africa (CCTA) and the Special Commonwealth African Assistance Plan initiated in 1960 by the Commonwealth Consultative Council. The beneficiaries of this lastmentioned plan include all the dependent Territories in Africa under United Kingdom administration. The representative of Pakistan suggested that in the interest of the Territories themselves financial and technical assistance should be increasingly channelled through international programmes.

98. The Committee was interested to hear that, the British National Committee for the Freedom from Hunger campaign, had so far approved nearly 130 projects costing approximately $\pounds 4$ million, many of which were located in Territories under United Kingdom administration. The projects include, for example, a scheme in Swaziland for an agricultural college and short-course centre which will be financed in part by contributions from two towns in the United Kingdom.

99. The Committee also welcomes the information from the representative of the United Kingdom that his Government is now encouraging the Non-Self-Governing Territories seeking international assistance to communicate directly with the field representatives of the United Nations, and that arrangements have recently been made with TAB to make a regular procedure of such contacts and to extend this procedure even to

³² Part two, section VII, of the present report.

the smaller Territories. The Committee wishes to commend this practice to other Administering Members as it endorses the view that it is important for the Territories to acquire experience in dealing directly with international organizations.

IX. Questions relating to the transmission of information under Chapter XI of the Charter and the summaries and analyses prepared by the Secretariat

100. In the course of discussions at this session, references were made by several representatives to a number of points relating to the transmission of information under Chapter XI and the summaries and analyses prepared by the Secretariat. Statements on this item were made by the representatives of Australia, Ecuador, Liberia, Mexico, Pakistan, the Philippines, Spain and the United Kingdom, at the 273rd, 274th, 276th and 277th meetings.

Transmission of information on Territories under Portuguese administration

101. By resolution 1542 (XV), adopted on 15 December 1960, the General Assembly considered that the Territories under Portuguese administration were Non-Self-Governing Territories within the meaning of Chapter XI of the Charter, and requested the Government of Portugal to transmit to the Secretary-General information on conditions in these Territories. The Assembly also requested the Government of Portugal to participate in the work of the Committee.

102. Many members of the Committee expressed regret and concern that no information had been transmitted on the Territories under Portuguese administration and that Portugal was not represented at this session of the Committee. Several members suggested that the Committee, through its Chairman, might consider steps designed to enlist the co-operation of the Portuguese Government in the work of the Committee and they reiterated the hope, also expressed by many members, that Portugal would transmit information under Chapter XI in the future.

Transmission of information on Southern Rhodesia

103. By resolution 1747 (XVI), adopted on 28 June 1962, the General Assembly affirmed that Southern Rhodesia was a Non-Self-Governing Territory within the meaning of Chapter XI of the Charter of the United Nations. At the present session of the Committee several representatives noted that in view of the decision of the General Assembly that Southern Rhodesia was a Non-Self-Governing Territory, the United Kingdom Government had an obligation under the Charter to transmit information on that Territory. They noted with regret that information had in fact been transmitted. The statements made by these representatives on the question of the obligation of the United Kingdom to transmit information on Southern Rhodesia and the reply of the representative of the United Kingdom appear in paragraphs 19 and 20 above.

Transmission of information on French Somaliland and the Comoro Archipelago

104. The question of the obligation of France to transmit information on French Somaliland and the Comoro Archipelago was raised by the representative of Liberia at the 265th meeting and was the subject of a reply by the representative of France at the 266th meeting.³³ Subsequently, at the 276th meeting, the representative of Liberia again pointed out that as the people of French Somaliland and the Comoro Archipelago had not attained a full measure of self-government, as envisaged in Chapter XI of the Charter, and were still under the administration of France, the obligation on the part of the French Government to transmit information in connexion with these Territories still existed.

105. At the 277th meeting, when the Committee considered its draft report, the representative of France reaffirmed the position of his Government as he had stated it at the 266th meeting.

Transmission of information on other Territories

106. At the 263rd meeting, the representative of Mexico noted that "the reports on Non-Self-Governing Territories submitted to the Committee were incomplete as far as Latin America was concerned, and that they covered only the United Kingdom colonies".

107. At the 276th meeting, the representative of the Philippines noted that Christmas Island had originally formed part of Singapore and the information transmitted by the United Kingdom Government had included this island. He noted that no information had been transmitted on this island following its transfer to the administration of Australia in 1958. He requested a clarification of the position of the Australian Government.

108. At the 277th meeting, the representative of Australia informed the Committee that there were no indigenous inhabitants on Christmas Island, and therefore, taking into account the provisions of Chapter XI, his Government had not considered it necessary to transmit information on that Territory. The representative of the Philippines pointed out that Article 73 was not limited in its application to indigenous inhabitants. In response the representative of Australia stated that he would report this observation to his Government.

Form and content of information transmitted

109. Both in connexion with the discussion on political and constitutional developments (item 4) and in connexion with the present item, statements were made to the effect that information transmitted by the Administering Members did not adequately cover some aspects on which it was essential that the Committee should be informed. In particular, it was suggested that the commendable practice adopted in some cases of including a separate section on recent political developments might be followed in respect of each Territory. It was also suggested that with regard to the information on the franchise in the Territories, details should be given as to the number of people who qualified to vote, as well as the number or percentage of the electorate which took part in the most recent elections.

110. Reference was also made to General Assembly resolution 1541 (XV) which enumerates principles relating to the attainment of a full measure of selfgovernment by Non-Self-Governing Territories, and sets out, in Principle VII, the conditions to be fulfilled by Territories in cases of integration or association with other States. In this connexion, it was pointed out that no information had been transmitted by the United Kingdom regarding the proposed formation of the

³³ See paras. 19 and 21 of the present report.

Federation of Malaysia and the referendum held in Singapore on the question of its future status.

111. Some members also observed that in a number of cases the information provided by the Administering Members omitted important details which made it difficult for the Committee to have a clear understanding of the situation in the Territories. Further clarification was requested from the Administering Members on some of these points, for instance on the position of Spain on the self-determination of the people of Spanish Sahara.³⁴ Requests were also addressed to the Administering Members for further clarification on the exact number of indigenous representatives in the executive and legislative bodies of the Territories under their administration.

112. With reference to the information transmitted by the Government of Spain, attention was drawn to resolution 218 (III), adopted on 3 November 1948, by which the General Assembly:

"... recommends that the Members, in transmitting information on the basis of the Standard Form, should notify such changes in statistics and such other appreciable changes, including the progress achieved in accordance with development programmes, as have occurred in the previous year and as affect the matters covered by Article 73 e of the Charter, bearing in mind that information already furnished on a previous occasion need not be repeated but that reference may be made to the appropriate sources".

It was pointed out that the information contained in the Secretariat's summary on the Territories under Spanish administration did not provide comparable statistics for previous years nor did it contain specific information on economic, social and educational conditions in each of the four Territories concerned. At the 276th meeting, the representative of Spain informed the Committee that his delegation had taken note of the suggestions made.

X. Co-operation with the Special Committee on the Situation with regard to the Implementation of the Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Colonial Countries and Peoples

113. As noted in paragraph 4 above, by resolution 1700 (XVI), the General Assembly had requested the Committee on Information to co-operate with the Special Committee on the Situation with regard to the Implementation of the Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Colonial Countries and Peoples. Furthermore, by resolution 1654 (XVI), the General Assembly had also requested the Committee on Information to assist the Special Committee in its work.

114. In the light of these requests by the General Assembly, the Committee considered in what way it could best assist the Special Committee in the discharge of its mandates. Statements on this item were made by the representatives of Australia, Ecuador, Mexico and Pakistan.

115. The consensus of the Committee was that the General Assembly had not intended that the Committee on Non-Self-Governing Territories should be in any way subordinate to the Special Committee on the Situation with regard to the Implementation of the

lonial Countries and Peoples. The Committee considers that its special function is to assist the General Assembly in the examination of the information transmitted under Chapter XI of the Charter, in the context of the advance of the Territories towards the goal of self-government or independence. In discharging this function, the Committee's work does not duplicate that performed by other organs or other Committees of the General Assembly. 116. At its 276th meeting, the Committee agreed that it would transmit to the Special Committee

Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Co-

that it would transmit to the Special Committee, through the normal channels, the Committee's report on its fourteenth session, its 1963 report on economic advancement and the documents prepared for the Committee by the Secretariat and the specialized agencies. The Committee wishes to assure the Special Committee of its full co-operation. The view was expressed that there should be closer consultation between the two bodies and that, in turn, the Special Committee on the Situation with regard to the Implementation of the Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Colonial Countries and Peoples might transmit through the normal channels those of its own documents which might be useful for the work of the Committee on Information from Non-Self-Governing Territories.

XI. Future work of the Committee

117. In his opening statement on 15 April 1963, the Chairman drew the attention of the Committee to paragraph 2 of resolution 1847 (XVII) by which the General Assembly decided that "in the light of rapid progress required for the accession of Non-Self-Governing Territories to independence it would review the situation at its eighteenth session with a view to taking a decision on the further continuation of the Committee on Information from Non-Self-Governing Territories". He pointed out that in this resolution and in resolution 1700 (XVI) the General Assembly had recognized the useful role of the Committee on Information from Non-Self-Governing Territories in the attainment of the objectives contained in Chapter XI of the Charter. He suggested that at a suitable time the Committee might consider whether it wished to submit to the General Assembly some observations on the question of its own continuation.

118. When the Committee took up the item on its future work, the representatives of Australia, Ecuador, Liberia, Mexico, Pakistan, the Philippines, Spain and the United Kingdom expressed their views on the question of the Committee's continuation.

119. The following paragraphs summarize in a composite form the views in support of the continuation of the Committee as they emerged from these statements. Some of the arguments adduced were not necessarily supported by all members who spoke. The individual views of each member appear in the summary records of the 272nd and the 274th to 276th meetings.

120. Under Chapter XI of the Charter, the United Nations had special responsibilities to the peoples of the Non-Self-Governing Territories, and the Committee on Information had been appointed to assist the General Assembly in carrying out these functions. Since 1947, in addition to examining information transmitted by the Administering Members, the Committee had been called upon to study a number of special questions relating to their obligations under Chapter XI of the Charter. The Committee's work had led to the adoption by the General Assembly of resolution 742 (VIII) of 27 November 1953 on the factors which should be taken into account in deciding whether a Territory is or is not a Territory whose people have not yet attained a full measure of self-government, and resolution 1541 (XV) of 15 December 1960 on the principles which should guide Members in determining whether or not an obligation exists to transmit information under Article 73 e of the Charter.

121. The work of the Committee on Information had no doubt contributed to the accelerated advance of the peoples of the Non-Self-Governing Territories, and, indeed, to the adoption in December 1960 of the Declaration on the granting of independence to colonial countries and peoples. The General Assembly had adopted resolutions 1541 (XV) and 1542 (XV), relating to the transmission of information under Article 73 e of the Charter, following its approval of the Declaration. Similarly, in 1961, the General Assembly had adopted resolution 1700 (XVI) renewing the Committee on Information, after its adoption of resolution 1654 (XVI), establishing the Special Committee. It was evident that the General Assembly had not considered that its Charter responsibilities relating to Non-Self-Governing Territories had ceased and had not intended the implementation of the Declaration to supersede the work of the Committee on Information.

122. The Special Committee established under resolution 1654 (XVI) had inevitably been immediately concerned with Territories nearing independence and with those where special problems had arisen. Apart from such Territories, there were, as the Committee has observed in its present report,⁸⁵ still a large number of Territories, many of them very small, for which the attainment of the objectives of Chapter XI might take different forms. The fate of the small Territories, many of which had a population under 100,000,36 was a problem to which the Committee's attention had been increasingly drawn as the larger Territories approached independence. Moreover, in Africa and the adjacent islands colonialism remained a major problem. Some members pointed out that on the continent of Africa there were still Basutoland, Bechuanaland, Gambia, Kenya, Northern Rhodesia, Nyasaland, Southern Rhodesia, Swaziland and Zanzibar under United Kingdom administration; Fernando Pou, Ifni, Río Muni and Spanish Sahara under Spanish administration; and Angola, Mozambique and Portuguese Guinea under Portuguese administration. To this had to be added, among others, the islands of Mauritius, Seychelles, São Tomé and Príncipe and Cape Verde, bringing the total to some twenty-four Territories, with over 30 million people.

123. The United Nations had a continuing responsibility towards all peoples who had not yet attained a full measure of self-government, irrespective of the size of the Territory in which they lived. At the present session of the Committee a proposal had in fact been made that a study be undertaken on the problems of the small Territories and that if the Committee were to be continued it should examine this situation at its next session.

124. The Committee on I^{*} formation, because of its balanced composition, had a special competence to evaluate the information transmitted and to study the problems of Non-Self-Governing Territories. Although its work could be considered to be of a more technical nature, this work had been of value in the past and would continue to be important so long as there were Non-Self-Governing Territories. For all these reasons the consensus was that the Committee should be continued.

125. The representative of the Philippines considered that at the appropriate time the functions of the Committee on Information should be taken over by the Special Committee established by resolution 1654 (XVI). He referred to the Secretary-General's introduction to his report on the work of the organization for the period from 16 June 1961 to 15 June 1962 in which such a reference had been made. The representative of the Philippines explained that, in his view, the Committee on Information had been restricted by its terms of reference and had not been able to make recommendations on individual Territories. However, as the Special Committee was seized with many urgent problems and emergency situations in various Territories, it did not seem likely that that body would be able to find time to examine the information transmitted under Chapter XI of the Charter. His delegation would therefore not oppose the continuation of the Committee on Information, pending the time when the Special Committee could take over the functions of examining the information transmitted.

126. The United Kingdom representative observed that while the reservations made by his Government in the past concerning the Committee still applied, he recognized that it had performed a useful task and he had noted the arguments adduced in favour of its continuation.

127. At the 272nd meeting, the representative of Ecuador suggested that without prejudice to the question of its continuation, the Committee might tentatively consider a programme of future work. Accordingly, he requested the Secrementat to submit an outline for the work to be undertaken in 1964 if the Committee were continued.

128. The programme of future work submitted by the Secretariat³⁷ suggested that in 1964, subject to the review to be undertaken by the General Assembly in accordance with operative paragraph 2 of resolution 1847 (XVII), the Committee might give more detailed attention to those aspects of educational advancement which could assist the Non-Self-Governing Territories in the attainment of a full measure of self-government. It was suggested that the documents to be submitted to the Committee might cover: (a) the training of teachers, the existing facilities in the Territories and the status of the teaching profession, taking into account the plans proposed by UNESCO; (b) the expansion of pri-mary education through the introduction of shortterm and long-term plans aimed at the establishment of universal primary education; and (c) educational planning for citizenship and leadership training.

87 A/AC.35/L.380.

³⁵ Paras. 33–35.

³⁶ See list of populations reproduced as annex III to part two of the present report.

129. The Secretariat paper noted that in the field of political and constitutional developments in the Territories, various topics, including the establishment of local institutions in the Territories, had been suggested for further study. In the light of the discussions at the present session of the Committee, where special emphasis had been given by many Members to developments in the small Territories, the Secretariat suggested that the paper to be submitted might also attempt to give special attention to such developments, taking into account the degree to which political and economic factors in these Territories may influence each other, and the extent to which, within this framework, the welfare and selfdetermination of the peoples of these Territories have been promoted.

130. Two other papers were suggested: one covering important aspects of health, and particularly the provision of rural health services; and another on labour conditions, including wage rates and the development of trade unions.

131. At the 275th meeting, the representative of the United Kingdom noted that in accordance with the triennial cycle of work previously established, the Committee would normally give particular attention to social advancement in 1964. He stated that his delegation would support the continuation of the established practice and suggested that the study on health matters might be given greater weight and discussed in the context of social development. He expressed the hope that WHO would be fully associated with the preparation of this study. He further suggested that a study should cover the development of local government.

132. The suggestions of the representative of the United Kingdom were supported by the representa-

tive of Australia. The representatives of Ecuador, Pakistan and the Philippines agreed with the preparation of the papers suggested, if it was understood that the Committee would not necessarily devote special attention solely to social advancement. They also supported the suggestion that a study should be made of the possibilities of political, constitutional or economic associations by smaller Territories so that they might attain more rapid progress.

133. At the 276th meeting, the Under-Secretary for the Department of Trusteeship and Information from Non-Self-Governing Territories stated that, subject to the availability of pertinent information and the limitation of staff, the Secretariat would prepare the studies as tentatively outlined in document A/AC.35/ L.380, taking into account the views expressed by members of the Committee. These studies would be prepared in full collaboration with the specialized agencies concerned which the Committee invited to co-operate in its work.

134. In approving the tentative programme of work to be undertaken by the Secretariat, the Committee took into account General Assembly resolution 1272 (XIII) on the control and limitation of documentation on which an item had been included in its agenda (item 11), in accordance with the tr ms of that resolution.

XII. Adoption of the report

135. At its 277th meeting, after accepting a number of amendments, the Committee unanimously adopted its report, which is submitted to the General Assembly at its eighteenth session.

ANNEX I

Agenda of the Committee

	Item	Document	Summary record
1.	Opening of the session	A/AC.35/INF.27/Rev.1; A/AC.35/INF. 28/Rev.1	260
2.	Election of the Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Rapporteur		260
3.	Adoption of the agenda	A/AC.35/16 and Rev.1; A/AC.35/L.367	260
4.	Political and constitutional developments in Non-Self- Governing Territories	A/AC.35/L.371 and Corr.1; A/5401 and Add.1-12; A/5402 and Add.1-5; A/5403 and Add.1-11; A/5404 and Add.1-4	266, 267, 268, 269, 270, 271, 272
5.	Economic advancement in Non-Self-Governing Territories	A/AC.35/L.370, A/AC.35/L.375; A/5401 —A/5404	261, 262, 263, 264, 265, 266, 267, 268, 269, 270
	(a) Policies and trends	A/AC.35/L.368	, _ ,
	(b) Development planning	A/AC.35/L.369	
	(c) Agriculture	A/AC.35/L.369; A/AC.35/L.379	
	(d) Industry	A/AC.35/L.368	
	(e) External trade	A/AC.35/L.370	
б.	Educational and social	A/AC.35/L.372; A/AC.35/L.373; A/AC. 35/L.375; A/5401—A/5404	269, 270, 271, 272, 273, 275, 276
7.	International collaboration and technical assistance for the advancement of Non-Self Governing Territories	A/AC.35/L.374; A/AC.35/L.376; A/AC. 35/L.377	272, 273, 274, 275
8.	Questions relating to the summaries and analyses in addi- tion to those treated under the previous items	A/AC.35/L.378	263, 274, 276

ANNEX I (continued

	Item	L	ocument		Summary record
9.	Co-operation with the Special Committee on the Situation with regard to the Implementation of the Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Colonial Countries and Peoples				273, 274, 275, 276
10.	Future work of the Committee	A/AC.35/L.380			272, 274, 275, 276
11.	Control and limitation of documentation				276
12.	Approval of reports	A/AC.35/L.381 ; AC.35/L.383	A/AC.35/L.382;	A/	277

ANNEX II

Dates of transmission of information

1. By General Assembly resolution 218 (III) of 3 November 1948, the Members transmitting information under Article 73 e of the Charter were invited "to send to the Secretary-General the most recent information which is at their disposal, as early as possible . . .".

2. Table I shows the dates on which information was transmitted under Article 73 e of the Charter to the Secretary-General in 1960, 1961 and 1962. Table II shows the dates of transmission of the latest political and constitutional information on Territories under United Kingdom administration.

TABLE I

	IABLE	1	
	1960	1961	1962
AUSTRALIA			
Cocos (Keeling) Islands	29 Feb.	14 Apr.	9 Apr.
Papua	9 Aug.	14 Apr.	16 Apr.
France			
Comoro Archipel- ago ^a			
French Somali-			
land a			<u> </u>
New Hebrides (con- dominium with			
United Kingdom)	11 Apr. 1961	13 Apr. 1962	5 Apr. 1963
New Zealand			
Cook Islands	25 Nov.	9 Jan. 1962	5 Feb. 1963
Niue Island	25 Nov.	9 Jan. 1962	5 Feb. 1963
Tokelau Islands	25 Nov.	9 Jan. 1962	5 Feb. 1963
Portugal			
Angola, including			
Cabinda	_		
Cape Verde Archi-			
pelago Guinea (Portu-			
guese)			
Macau and depen-			
dencies			—
Mozambique			—
São Tomé and Principe and de-			
pendencies		_	_
Timor (Portu-			
guese) and de-			
pendencies	_	_	

^a On 27 March 1959, the Government of France notified the Secretary-General that this Territory had attained internal autonomy and, consequently, the transmission of information thereon had ceased as from 1957.

ı	TABLE I (co	ntinued)	
S	1960	1961	1962
SPAIN Fernando Póo		10 1 10/0	07771 1040
Ifni		12 Jan. 1962	27 Feb. 1963
Río Muni	_	12 Jan. 1962	27 Feb. 1963
Spanish Sahara	_	12 Jan. 1962	27 Feb. 1963
Spanish Sanara		12 Jan. 1962	27 Feb. 1963
UNITED KINGDOM			
Aden	20 Feb. 1961	21 Feb. 1962	13 Dec.
Antigua	19 May 196 <u>1</u>	31 Aug.	30 July
Bahamas	16 Sept.	15 Dec.	18 Sept.
Barbados	7 July	28 July	25 June
Basutoland	30 Aug.	2 Nov.	13 Dec.
Bechuanaland	10 Aug.	5 Mar. 1962	2 Nov.
Bermuda	25 Oct.	23 Nov.	26 June and 7 Aug.
British Guiana	20 July	23 Nov.	25 June
British Honduras .	28 Nov.	19 Sept.	25 June
British Virgin	00 T 1		
Islands	29 July	14 July	25 June
Brunei	7 July	27 Nov.	6 July
Cayman Islands Dominica	12 4	 00 X 10 00	14 Aug.
Falkland Islands	12 Aug.	29 Jan. 1962	5 Oct.
Fiji	16 Dec.	10 July	2 July
Gambia	3 Nov.	28 July	28 June
<u> </u>	20 July	28 July	25 June and 27 July
Gibraltar	8 Aug.	30 Aug.	11 Sept.
Gilbert and Ellice Islands	7 Testa	20 T.1	
Islands Grenada	7 July 25 Aug	28 July	2 July
Hong Kong	25 Aug. 1 June	12 Mar. 1962	26 Nov.
Jamaica	20 July	14 July	21 June
Kenya	30 Aug.	10 Aug.	6 July
Malta	6 Dec.	26 July 10 July	6 July
Mauritius	7 July	10 July 10 July	21 7
Montserrat	20 July	29 Mar. 1962	21 June
New Hebrides	20 July	29 Mar. 1902	25 June
(condominium			
with France)	1 Sept.	28 July	24 Aug.
North Borneo	12 Aug.	26 July	5 July
Northern Rhodesia	20 July	10 Aug.	21 Aug.
Nyasaland	20 July	10 Aug.	21 Aug.
Pitcairn Island	7 July	14 July	21 Aug.
St. Helena	7 July	16 May	21 June
St. Kitts - Nevis -	10		
Anguilla	1 Sept.	2 Mar. 1962	17 Sept.
St. Lucia	1 Sept.	26 Mar. 1962	9 Oct.
St. Vincent	11 May 1961	21 Dec.	5 Oct.

Т	ABLE I (con	stimued)	
	1960	1961	1962
UNITED KINGDOM (CON	tinued)		
Sarawak	14 S e pt.	5 June	3 July
Seychelles	3 June	24 May	21 June
Singapore	7 Feb. 1961	21 Sept.	11 Mar. 1963
Solomon Islands	5 July	7 Sept.	25 June
Southern Rhodesia			
Swaziland	10 Aug.	11 Oct.	25 June
Trinidad and To- bago	28 Dec.	14 Sept.	16 July and
Turks and Caicos Islands	_		21 Aug. 7 Sept.
Uganda	4 Aug.	14 July	25 July
Zanzibar	20 July	15 Feb. 1962	21 Aug.
United States of America			
American Samoa .	8 Apr.	20 Apr.	24 Apr.
Guam United States Vir-	13 May	20 Apr.	23 Apr.
gin Islands	9 May	20 Apr.	12 Apr.

TABLE II

LATEST POLITICAL INFORJATION TRANSMITTED BY THE UNITED KINGDOM GOVERNMENT

Date of transmission in 1963 AFRICA AND ADJACENT TERRITORIES Aden 26 February Basutoland, Bechuanaland and Swaziland 18 March Gambia 25 February Gibraltar 30 March Kenya 28 February Malta 22 March Mauritius 12 March NorLiern Rhodesia 25 February

TABLE II (continued) Date of transmission in 1963 AFRICA AND ADJACENT TERRITORIES (continued) Nyasaland 27 February St. Helena 28 February Sevchelles 7 March Southern Rhodesia 26 February Zanzibar ASIAN TERRITORIES Brunei 18 March Hong Kong 25 February North Borneo 20 March Sarawak 22 March Singapore 7 March CARIBBEAN AND WESTERN ATLANTIC TERRITORIES Antigua, Montserrat and St. Kitts-Nevis-Anguilla 28 February Bahamas 25 February Barbados 28 February Bermuda 25 February British Guiana 27 February British Honduras 25 February British Virgin Islands..... 18 March Cayman Islands 28 February Dominica, Grenada, St. Lucia and St. 9 March Vincent Falkland Islands 28 February Turks and Caicos Islands..... 7 March PACIFIC TERRITORIES Fiji 20 March Gilbert and Ellice Islands..... 20 March Pitcairn Island 12 March Solomon Islands 20 March

REPORT ON ECONOMIC ADVANCEMENT IN NON-SELF-GOVERNING TERRITORIES

Introduction¹

1. In 1963 the Committee on Information made its fifth review of economic conditions in the Non-Self-Governing Territories since 1951. In accordance with its terms of reference, as set out in various General Assembly resolutions,2 the Committee has regularly examined economic conditions in the Non-Self-Governing Territories at three-year intervals, in 1951, 1954, 1957 and 1960.³ In 1960, the Committee also reviewed the progress achieved in the Non-Self-Governing Territories under the Charter on the basis of a special report⁴ prepared for the General Assembly, and included a survey of economic conditions in its observations and conclusions.5

2. The Committee undertook its task in 1963 within the framework of its new terms of reference laid down by the General Assembly as its sixteenth session,6 and bearing in mind the principles contained in the Declaration on the granting of independence to colonial countries and peoples as contained in resolution 1514 (XV), adopted by the General Assembly on 14 December 1960.

3. The Committee had before it three economic studies prepared by the Secretariat of the United Nations, as well as summaries of the information transmitted by the Administering Members providing data on economic conditions in the Territories relating in general to the period 1959/1960 to 1961/ 1962. The studies are listed in annex I and, together with the summary records of the Committee's dis-

The Chairman of the sub-committee was Mr. M. Norrish (New Zealand), the Rapporteur of the Committee on Informa-tion from Non-Self-Governing Territories.

Representatives of the ILO, FAO, UNESCO and WHO also participated in the debates of the sub-committee.

² Resolutions 332 (IV) of 2 December 1949, 646 (VII) of 10 December 1952, 933 (X) of 8 November 1955 and 1332 (XIII) of 12 December 1958.

³ Official Records of the General Assembly, Sixth Session, Supplement No. 14 (A/1836), part three; ibid., Ninth Session, Supplement No. 18 (A/2729), part two; ibid., Twelfth Session, Supplement No. 15 (A/3647), part two; and ibid., Fifteenth Session, Supplement No. 15 (A/4371), part three.

⁴ Progess of the Non-Self-Governing Tern tories under the Charter (Sales No.: 60.VI.B.1, Vol. 1-5 and Index).

⁵ Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifteenth Session, Supplement No. 15 (A/4371), part two.

⁶ Resolution 1700 (XVI) of 19 December 1961.

cussions, should be read in conjunction with the present report. It also had before it a report on Kenva prepared by IBRD.7 In addition, a number of papers prepared for the Economic Commission for Africa on this subject were found to be of considerable interest.

4. This material was considered by the Committee in the light of the principles contained in Chapter XI of the Charter and the obligations undertaken by the Administering Members thereunder. In this connexion, several non-Administering Members emphasized the importance of the implementation of the Declaration on the granting of independence to colonial countries and peoples and recalled the principle established by the General Assembly that inadequacy of political. economic, social or educational preparedness should never serve as a pretext for delaying independence.

5. Taking into account the assistance provided by the Administering Members to the Territories under their administration, the Committee considers that, within the spirit of the Declaration, it is the responsibility of the Administering Members to accelerate the economic development of these Territories, to make their economies ever more viable, and to ensure the continued economic growth of the Territories. The fundamental aim of economic policy, no less than in 1954 when the Committee first stated it, must still be "to develop these Territories in the interest of all sectors of the population, to raise the standard of living by increasing individual real purchasing power, and to increase the total wealth of each Territory in order to make possible a higher standard of social services and administration".8

I. General policies and trends

6. Most of the Territories, are economically underdeveloped and their economies are mainly based on the production of primary products for home consumption of export. There are also a few Territories which are dependent on other specialized forms of economic activity, such as entrepôt trade, tourism or manufacturing industry. A substantial portion of the proceeds from the exports of the Non-Self-Governing Territories continues to be devoted to imports of consumer as well as capital goods from countries enjoying a higher level of economic development.

7. At the present session of the Committee, some of the Administering Members made general policy statements concerning economic advancement in the Territories under their administration.

8. The representative of the United Kingdom stated that it was the policy of his Government to assist the Territories, through both technical and

¹ The draft of the present report was prepared by a subcommittee of the Committee on Information from Non-Self-Governing Territories composed of the representatives of Ecuador, Liberia, the Philippines, Spain, the United Kir dom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America.

The members of the delegations who served on the sub-committee were: *Ecuador*: Dr. Luis Valencia Rodríguez; *Liberia*: Mr. Nathaniel Eastman; *Philippines*: Mr. Hortencio J. Brillantes and Mr. Ernesto L. Calingasan; *Spain*: Mr. José Gómez Durán; *United Kingdom*: Mr. P. Selwyn; and *United* States: Mr. H. Gilbert White.

⁷ IBRD: The Economic Development of Kenya, Washington,

D.C., 1962. ⁸ Official Records of the General Assembly, Ninth Session, Supplement No. 18 (A/2729), part two, para. 17.

financial aid, to achieve and maintain a high rate of economic growth, so as to raise the standard of living of their peoples. The policies being pursued were those of the Governments of the Territories concerned, but his Government gave assistance to the Territorial Governments, both in the working out of their economic policies and in providing the resources necessary to carry them out.

9. He further stated that the fruits of these policies could be seen in the progress which had been achieved in the Territories. There had been substantial increases in the national income of a number of Territories, including Barbados, British Guiana, Malta, Northern Rhodesia and Nyasaland. Production for export had risen to a marked extent in Hong Kong, North Borneo, Sarawak and Swaziland. There had been expansion in particular sectors, such as the tourist industry in the Caribbean area and the cattle industry in Bechuanaland. Progress had been less marked in certain Territories. In Kenya, for example, output had been affected by successive years of drought and flood, as well as through the falling off in capital investment resulting from the loss of confidence arising out of the political situation. In Mauritius, progress had been slowed down as a result of severe cyclones. In all, however, and in spite of a period of generally deteriorating terms of trade, progress had continued during the period under review.

10. The representative of Spain stated that Fernando Póo and Río Muni had been spared the instability characteristic of many under-developed countries, owing to a liberal economic and financial policy which fostered their development, a trade policy which protected their principal commodities from fluctuations in world demand, the absence of customs duties between them and the Peninsula and a generous supply of foreign exchange for use in importing the necessary machinery. The favourable return from exports from the Equatorial Region was due primarily to the fact that the entire agricultural production was absorbed by the Provinces of the Peninsula at much higher prices than could be obtained on the world market.

11. He further stated that under its Development Plan, the Spanish Government had set in motion a programme of diversification of crops, establishment of related industries, development of fishing, improvement of ports and communications, mineral research, expansion of trade and strengthening of medium and long-term credit. It had also undertaken a series of measures designed to raise the *per capita* income as rapidly as possible to the level prevailing in the Peninsula.

12. The representative of the United States of America stated that in the three Territories under United States administration, which had a stable and harmonious social and political foundation, the people were already beginning to share in a higher standard of living characteristic of a modern industrial society, and their expectations for an even larger income were rising. It was the policy of the United States and of the territorial Governments to foster the conditions and provide the assistance which would give substance to these expectations.

13. He emphasized that the economic policies of the three Territories were not under centralized control except in the most general sense. The Territories were closely linked to the economy of the United States, but at the same time each partook of the economic life peculiar to its own area.

14. The representative of Australia pointed out that because of the nature and distribution of the resources of Papua, primary production would continue, in the short term at least, to be the main source of locally generated funds. The advancement of Papuan agriculture to improve food supplies, to bring about a more efficient use of land and to increase the production of cash crops had therefore been given high priority by the Government of Australia.

15. He pointed out that in a traditional subsistence economy the economic situation was often one of stagnation rather than growth. The establishment of an advanced economy imposed an increasing need for capital for private and public investment, and in the early stages, at least, this need could not be met from local sources. In recent years, the Administration had provided many facilities necessary for the development of the private sector of the economy. Measures to increase revenue, stimulate savings and encourage investment from internal and external sources were under constant review. It was the policy of the Government of Australia to create fundamental but time-consuming changes among the people by provision of wide-spread education and health facilities. The Government was also pursuing the policy of encouraging any suitable industry in the Territory, provided there were reasonable market prospects and the industry was likely to operate on an economic basis.

16. The representative of New Zealand stated that in respect of the Territories under his Government's administration, which consisted of nineteen Polynesian islands, each small in area and in population, the economic policy being followed was to develop each island to the limit of its individual capacity. On the basis of present knowledge, full self-sufficiency probably could not be attained by economic units of such small size. Nevertheless, this policy had in the last two years shown some striking results. Much of this was the product of long research and planning, particularly in agriculture. going back approximately ten years. He drew attention to the stimulus given to the process when the local legislative assemblies assumed full control of development funds, which were provided, to a large extent, by New Zealand.

17. In assessing progress towards the fundamental aims of economic policy as defined in the introduction to this report, the Committee has taken into consideration the fact that economic development in the Territories should also be evaluated in the perspective of general trends prevailing in the world economy as a whole.

18. Since most of the Territories are primary producers heavily dependent upon exports and with little domestic capital of their own, they are particularly affected by fluctuations in world market prices of primary products. This lack of domestic capital and of flexibility of their economies makes it difficult for such Territories rapidly to adapt their pattern of production to changing world market conditions. Prices of primary products improved in 1959 and then fell sharply in the latter half of 1960. There was some recovery in the early part of 1961 but thereafter the trend was generally downwards, until prices began to rise again at the end of the year. With some exceptions, the prices of the commodities produced by the Territories followed a similar pattern; various local factors, including the weather, exerted an influence on the receipts from some commodities important in world trade.

19. In the Report on the State of Food and Agriculture, 1962, published by FAO,9 it is stated that, apart from the continuing decline of agricultural prices on world markets, the key problems of food and agriculture in the less developed regions of the world are under-production, hunger and malnutrition. The most disquieting trend is that per capita food production in these regions, which increased appreciably during the 1950's tended to fall in the last few years as production lagged behind the growth of the population.

20. During the period under review, the post-war trend towards rising economic activities continued generally at a slower rate. Nearly all of the Territories were adversely affected by changes in their terms of trade and there were variations in the degree to which this was overcome by an increased volume of production. There were also indications in some Territories of failure to expand food supplies to meet domestic demand as well as to increase earning capacities for foreign exchange under the impact of falling world prices of primary commodities.

21. For instance, the volume of exports of primary products from the Territories under the United Kingdom administration rose by some 3 per cent in 1961, compared with 4 per cent in 1960 and 12 per cent in 1959. The rise was mainly due to increased exports of petroleum products, sugar and timber, although exports of some other commodities (tea, bananas, cocoa, bauxite, manganese and diamonds) also rose. Among the commodities which showed a decline in the volume of exports were cloves, coffee, cotton and copper.¹⁰ The rate of increase in 1961 was, however, similar to that during the period 1956-1958.

The output of goods and services of these Ter-22. ritories (including the former Trust Territory of Tanganyika, but excluding Northern Rhodesia, Nyasaland and the three High Commission Territories) rose moderately in 1961. Gross domestic product at market prices was estimated provisionally at about $\pm 2,190$ million in 1961, compared with £2,080 million in 1960. Since 1956 the annual rate of increase at constant prices (excluding Singapore and Hong Kong) has been about 5 per cent. Provisional estimates show that the level of long-term capital inflow was lower in 1961 than in 1959 and 1960, and that gross fixed capital forma-tion was approximately £390 million, about the same as in 1960, but about 15 per cent higher than in 1959.11

23. Data on national accounts for Northern Rhodesia indicate that the Territory's gross domestic product at factor cost rose from $\pounds 200.2$ million to $\pounds 215.5$ million between 1959 and 1960, but fell to £207.1 million in 1961. In 1956 it was £194.3 million and it had fallen by 1958 to £146 million.12 Similar data for Nyasaland indicate that the pace of development of the Territory's economy was not maintained during 1961 at the same level as in previous years; its gross domestic product at factor cost in 1961 was £58.4

million, representing an increase of 3 per cent, a figure well under the 7.6 per cent increase registered in the previous year.18

24. Detailed statistics on the per capita gross domestic product are available for both of these Territories. In 1961, the total African contribution per head to the gross domestic product of Northern Rhodesia, including subsistence activities, was valued at ± 29.0 , against ± 28.9 in 1960 and ± 28.6 in 1959. For Nyasaland, the figures were £15.8, against £15.6 in 1960 and £15.0 in 1959. The total non-African contribution per head in Northern Rhodesia was £1,507.8, against £1,664.2 in 1960 and £1,591.2 in 1959; for Nyasaland, the figures were £593.1, against £599.7 in 1960 and \pm 596.5 in 1959. The productivity of the African population in Northern Rhodesia and Nyasaland in terms of the money value of their activities continued to be very low in relation to non-African productivity; a high proportion of the resources of the African population was still devoted to subsistence activities; and the gross domestic product, or the total geographical income, was not yet widely distributed among the members of the community.

25. The Committee recalls that in 1957 the per capita personal income of the indigenous population of certain African Territories was among the lowest in the world. There was a striking disparity between the levels of per capita personal income of Africans and non-Africans in these Territories. This disparity was primarily due to the fact that most Africans were engaged mainly in subsistence agriculture with low productivity and that even in urban areas they were mainly unskilled labourers. The Committee also recalls the assurances previously made by the Administering Members that it was one of the objectives of their policies to reduce and eventually to eliminate this disparity.¹⁴

26. The Committee notes that although there has been progress in some Territories, in others, the rate of increase in the gross national product has been slow. The Committee is of the opinion that the economic position of the indigenous peoples of some Territories thus far has shown no significant improvement, not only because the inequality of per capita personal income of indigenous and non-indigenous inhabitants has persisted, but also because this disparity has continued to be very great; certain members of the Committee considered that failure to achieve the objective of reducing and eventually eliminating this disparity appeared to indicate that existing economic policies and programmes would require certain modifications if they were to meet the needs and interests of the indigenous peoples. The Administering Members concerned informed the Committee, however, that they were making constant efforts to eliminate these disparities and that they were continuing to carry out intensive programmes for this purpose.

27. The Committee therefore considers that economic development can only be considered as satisfactory if a significant improvement in the standards of living and economic well-being of these peoples is brought about through the early introduction of effective measures to reduce the disparities in income between indigenous and non-indigenous groups, and if

⁹ Rome, 1962, pp. 1-2. ¹⁰ United Kingdom: The Colonial Territories, 1960-1961, London, H.M.S.O., Cmnd. 1407, p. 46; *ibid.*, 1961-1962, Cmnd. 1751, pp. 53-54. ¹¹ The Colonial Territories, 1961-1962, op. cit., pp. 54-55

and 84.

¹² For detailed figures, see National Accounts of the Federation of Rhodesia and Nyasaland, 1954-1961, Salisbury, pp. 71-75, tables 83-85.

¹³ Ibid., pp. 91-95, tables 104-106. ¹⁴ Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifteenth Ses-sion, Supplement No. 15 (A/4371), para. 53.

the gap between the standards of living in the Territories and those in the highly developed countries is quickly remedied.

28. The Committee notes that in many Territories the participation of indigenous persons in modern economic enterprises, which are largely owned by nationals of the administering countries concerned and other non-resident capital, is primarily through the supply of unskilled and semi-skilled labour. Some members pointed out the importance of foreign investments in stimulating the economic development of the Territories by way of building up various sectors of the economy and providing training for the indigenous population. At the same time, the Committee notes that in certain cases the indigenous workers are excluded from many skilled jobs owing to the lack of sufficient training and that racially discriminatory practices still exist which are manifested by unequal pay for equal work, in spite of the persistent efforts which the Administering Members stated were being made to suppress them. Therefore, the Committee again emphasizes that all possible measures are need to ensure full and equal opportunities and conditions of employment to indigenous workers.15

29. As stated previously, in most of the United Kingdom Territories, gross fixed capital formation continued to expand during the period under review, but the level of long-term capital inflow was lower in 1961 than in 1960.

30. However, the pattern of capital formation varied according to the Territory. On the basis of available information, the total private investment in Northern Rhodesia between 1960 and 1961 (excluding that by African rural households in capital goods, on which data are not available) increased from £29.6 million to £31.4 million, while the total public investment decreased from £19.2 million to £18.4 million. This fall was more than accounted for by a decline in investments by public corporations; government investment continued to increase during this period. In the case of Nyasaland, the total public investment rose from ± 3.9 million to ± 6.1 million during the same years, and the total private investment (excluding that by African rural households in capital goods on which data are not available) from $\pounds 2.0$ million to $\pounds 2.3$ million. As regards Kenya, there was a further small rise in investment in fixed assets by the public sector, from £14.4 million to £15.2 million in these two years, while the total for the private sector fell by $\pounds 7.7$ million to $\pounds 19.3$ million.¹⁶

31. Since the expansion of gross capital formation is essential for an increase in employment opportunities, an advance in gross product and the general economic betterment of the population, the Committee urges the Administering Members to take appropriate measures to attract as much new capital as possible to the Territories under their administration, and supports the efforts being made in this direction by the Governments of the Territories.

32. The Committee notes with concern that in several Territories under United Kingdom administration, for example, Kenya, the economic setback has been due to uncertainty regarding their political future. In these Territories, economic growth has slowed down and there has been an outward transfer of capital. The Committee considers that the present state of uncertainty tends to increase fear, strengthen resistance to change and lead to a deterioration in the confidence of private investors. In the Committee's view, as soon as constitutional guarantees can be worked out to safeguard the interests of and ensure equal rights to all sectors of the population, the transfer of power to the inhabitants of the Territories should not be further delayed.

33. Inevitably, political change in a Territory may bring with it a need for reassessment of the economic future. In some Territories this has already been done. Experience has shown that the transfer of political power need not result in an abrupt change in the economic growth of the Territory. In fact, long-term success can best be assured in the political and economic fields when the changes are brought about in an atmosphere of good will and confidence of all sectors of the population. In the period of transition the Administering Member has a special responsibility to make it possible for all the inhabitants of a Territory to work towards a common future.

34. The Committee notes with concern that the economic position of some small Territories has become weaker during the period under review and presents special difficulties, mainly because of the small size of the local markets, the high degree of instability resulting from specialization in the production of only one or two export-earning primary commodities and the heavy dependence on imported goods for the satisfaction of local requirements.

35. The Committee considers that in certain instances there may be advantages for small Territories in establishing areas of closer economic co-operation with neighbouring Territories or countries on a voluntary basis, for example, through the establishment of unitary states, federations, customs unions or free trade areas. In this connexion, the Committee notes that negotiations are being conducted by Barbados and the Leeward and Windward Islands with the view of establishing a federation, and expresses the hope that any unit thus created will become economically viable. Such groupings are desirable or justifiable economically only when satisfactory arrangements can be made with the full support of the people concerned for a fair distribution of the benefits accruing from these groupings among the various participants. In any such association the representatives of the peoples concerned should participate directly in the formulation, implementation and periodic reviews of common economic policies and programmes, which should take into account the needs and changing aspirations of the peoples and resolve any possible differences.

36. The Committee believes that even with arrangements such as those described above, internal economic forces should remain one of the dynamic elements in economic growth. It realizes that the problems of economic advancement in the small Territories are both difficult and urgent, a proper solution of which should be worked out now, and calls upon the Administering Members concerned to take early action to assist these Territories in developing their full potentialities by encouraging more effective utilization of human and natural resources.

¹⁵ Ibid.

¹⁶ See National Accounts of the Federation of Rhodesia and Nyasaland, 1954-1961, op. cit., pp. 88-90, tables 100-103 and pp. 108-110, tables 121-124; and Kenya: Economic Survey, 1962, Nairobi, 1962, p. 38.

II. Development planning

37. Development planning in the Non-Self-Governing Territories varies widely in scope and approach.

38. Planning for the development of the United States Territories is done locally. The territorial budgets are prepared annually by the territorial Governments, but they are largely based on long-range programmes for each activity. Although the budgets are primarily for the public sector, more and more emphasis is being placed no providing the necessary infrastructure, loans and technical assistance for private industries. Another type of planning is done by economic development boards or commissions composed of representatives of the territorial Government and of the various private interests in the local community. The development programmes prepared by these boards are based on a variety of economic surveys and studies made of the resources and potentialities of the Territories. The programmes are advisory in nature, but they are already beginning to find expression in territorial legislation and in the plans of private enterprise. Each Territory also has a planning board or commission responsible for land-use planning and zoning.

39. Although there are no formal development plans for the Territories administered by Australia and New Zealand, the techniques of development planning and programming employed in these Territories are broadly similar to those described in regard to the United States Territories. At the request of the Government of Australia, the IBRD will shortly make a survey of Papua and submit for the Government's consideration a formal plan for economic development.

40. In most of the Territories under United Kingdom administration, new or revised development plans for the early 1960's have recently been produced. They range from a list of specific development projects (Zanzibar) to comprehensive development programmes prepared for the whole economy (Brunei, Nyasaland and Singapore).

41. With the exception of Nyasaland, the existing development plans for the United Kingdom Territories are primarily plans for expenditure in the public sector of the economy. Many of the Governments have, however, made special efforts to encourage growth in the rate of private investment, and all the plans are designed to have an impact on the private sector, e.g., through the provision of extension services for agriculture or infrastructure for industries.

42. In these development plans generally, the description of the economy and its broad trends in the period immediately preceding is usually followed by a description of the general aims and objectives of the plan. For instance, in some plans special emphasis is placed on the need to change the social and economic structures as a precondition for accelerating economic growth. Traditional land tenure systems, customs and traditional attitudes, a high percentage of subsistence activities, a very limited scope of monetary transactions and extremely broad differences between the standards of living in urban and rural areas are features common to most African Territories. These conditions are aggravated by the dependence of several African Territories on the export of one or two primary products whose prices undergo frequent fluctuations. The removal of these impediments to economic development constitutes the most important aim in some development plans.

43. In the more advanced development plans, a qualitative description of aims and objectives is usually followed by a quantitative one. The targets are formulated by sectors (agriculture, transport and communications, etc), but the break-down of the sector targets into sub-sectors and branches differs from Territory to Territory in its degree of detail.

44. In those Territories where development plans are mainly public expenditure programmes, the breakdown of capital expenditure is usually based on the institutional structure of governmental departments and on the economic classification of investment which sometimes bears a close relationship to the sub-sector breakdown in the more advanced development plans.

45. An adequate organizational solution has not yet been found for regional planning within Territories, but some regional targets are included in a number of development plans, even in those covering only public expenditure (e.g., in Kenya). Many of the United Kingdom Territories, however, are too small to permit a regional approach to planning.

46. In general, territorial development plans suffer from two other major weaknesses in their organizational framework; the lack of adequate statistics for most of the Territories and the general absence of planning units within the ministries concerned with economic affairs, a reflection of the difficulties in recruiting the necessary technical personnel. There has, however, been a substantial improvement in statistical coverage over the past few years and this had led to a growth in the degree of comprehensiveness of development plans.

47. In addition to the assistance provided by the United Kingdom Government in this field, an increasing number of the Territories have recently sought advice from outside experts (including, in some cases, those from IBRD) in formulating their development policies and programmes. The reports of these experts have often covered fresh ground and have gone a long way towards providing as complete a picture as possible of the economies they have described. One of the most interesting aspects of this work has been the services rendered by the experts to planners, who have found the data provided by the economic surveys very useful.

48. According to the information supplied by the United Kingdom Government on the financing of development plans for the Territories under its ad-ministration, about £23 million was spent on Colonial Development and Welfare schemes and on research in 1961-1962 (compared with £25 million in 1960-1961). The value of schemes approved during the year amounted to £21 million (£34.5 million in the previous year). Political factors continued to have an adverse effect on the market for local loans in East Africa, but several United Kingdom Territories, notably in the Pacific and the Caribbean area, were able to float successful local issues during the year. For the first time no loans were raised by territorial Governments on the London market during the year. Exchequer loans of nearly £16 million, compared with about ± 24 million in the previous year, were approved during the year under the Colonial Development and Welfare Act of 1959. Issues during the year against these loans and others approved earlier amounted to nearly $\pounds 19$ million; they amounted to $\pounds 22$ million in the previous year. New capital expenditure provided by the Colonial Development Corporation during the year amounted to nearly $\pounds 19$ million; in the previous year it amounted to ± 9.1 million. Whereas a decade ago the principal factors limiting the rate of development expenditure in the public sector in many Territories were stated to be physical and administrative, they are now considered to be mainly financial; the primary limitation is the lack of local financial resources.17

49. Only a few Territories have been able to obtain financial assistance through international channels. The two major sources are IBRD and the United Nations Special Fund.

50. In 1961-1962 IBRD made loans of £11.85 million towards projects in several Territories, including British Guiana and Kenya. By the end of the year the total amount of loans made to United Kingdom Territories stood at nearly £88 million.¹⁸

51. In 1961, the Governing Council of the United Nations Special Fund approved grants totalling £3.5 million for projects in British Guiana, Northern Rhodesia and Uganda.19

52. The Committee sees no reason to differ from its opinion, expressed in 1957, that the objective of development policy is not so much to make a financial contribution to desirable projects as to set in motion a process of balanced development based on scientific research and supplied by material and technical assistance.²⁰ It notes that in most Territories this objective has not yet been achieved; that in too many Territories the project type of development investment is still predominant and that the great majority of development plans do not as yet define the general scope and targets anticipated from the private sector.

53. The Committee notes with interest that the Governments of Brunei, Singapore and Nyasaland have adopted the comprehensive approach to planning, and expresses the hope that this approach will obtain more acceptance, since it deals with the whole economy as one unit and takes account, as far as is practicable, of inter-actions between changes in the different sectors of the economy. However, it recognizes that even without this comprehensive approach, planning can have substantial regard to the present and future scope and pattern of the private sector.

54. The Committee is aware that there are objections to the application of the comprehensive approach, the most important of which is the lack of data to carry out the sometimes complicated calculations and, in particular, the lack of reliable information on capitaloutput ratios and future movements in the terms of trade. However, the Committee believes that estimates of the size and importance of the various sectors of the territorial economies can be of help in establishing an analytical framework which can be used as a starting point for a comprehensive plan. It recognizes the value of the work which has been done in a number of Territories to provide information on these lines and expresses the hope that this work will be expanded in scope and depth. In this connexion, the Committee wishes to stress the need to strengthen the organizational framework adapted to local conditions, which is essential to the successful formulation and implementation of development plans. It recognizes the difficulties con-

fronting the smaller Territories in particular in recruiting the necessary technical staff or in meeting the costs of an elaborate planning unit. It welcomes the decision taken in 1963 by the Economic Commission for Africa and the Economic Commission for Asia and the Far East on the establishment of institutes concerned with economic development in the areas of their activities.21

55. The Committee notes with approval the practice of seeking expert advice from outside the Territory concerned. It commends IBRD for its efforts to assist a number of Territories in developing appropriate policies and programmes designed to ensure a rapid and balanced growth.

56. The Committee also notes with satisfaction that the programme approved by the Technical Assistance Committee for the Territories showed a substantial increase between 1961-1962 and 1963-1964 (from \$2,381,000 to \$3,626,000) and that, in general, the emphasis in the programming of international technical assistance has gradually shifted to general economic advancement covering a wider range of development activities.

57. The Committee recalls that General Assembly resolution 1817 (XVII) of 18 December 1962 considered the economic and social situation in Basutoland, Bechuanaland and Swaziland to be alarming. The Committee notes that an economic survey mission to Basutoland, Bechuanaland and Swaziland, appointed in consultation with IBRD, made a number of recommendations on the economic development of these Territories. The Committee hopes that these recommendations will soon be implemented. It is aware that a number of development schemes have been carried out with financial assistance from the United Kingdom Government, but that the economic survey mission had suggested that the capital expenditure required to implement its recommendations was nearly all supplementary to that provided for in the development plans for these Territories, and should be met by free capital grants from the United Kingdom.22 The United Kingdom representative informed the Committee that development plans were being drawn up by the Governments of these Territories for the period 1963-1966 and that these would provide the basis for an accelerated rate of growth.

58. The Committee recognizes that the financing of capital formation is a very important problem-and in some cases may become a critical one for the Territories. If this was a less pressing problem than some others during the ten years or so immediately following the Second World War, it was largely because, during that period, export income and financial aid from the administering countries were maintained at a satisfactory level, and at the same time, the rate of development expenditure was slowed down, in many instances for other than financial reasons.

59. The Committee notes that the decline in export prices during the period under review has seriously reduced available investment funds. The dependence of most Territories on a very few export products makes them specially vulnerable to price fluctuations, and a consequent reduction in export earnings might at any

¹⁷ United Kingdom: The Colonial Territories 1960-1961, op. cit., pp. 48 and 86; Ibid., 1961-1962, pp. 55 and 87. ¹⁸ Ibid., 1961-1962, pp. 55 and 89.

Ibid., p. 91.
Official Records of the General Assembly, Twelfth Session, Supplement No. 15 (A/3647), part two, para. 26.

²¹ E/CN.14/Res.71 (V) Rev.1, E/CN.14/Res.72 (V) and

²² Basutoland, Bechuanaland Protectorate and Swaziland: *Report of an Economic Survey Mission*, London, H.M.S.O., 1960, pp. 32, 208 and 415.

time put development programmes in jeopardy, the more so as the foreign exchange content of investment for economic and social development is high for those Territories with little or no manufacturing industry.

60. The information indicates that the development funds made available by the United Kingdom to the Territories under its administration, though substantial, have recently declined because the number of Territories under United Kingdom administration has also diminished. The representative of the United Kingdom stated that aid to the remaining Territories has tended in many cases to rise. In many Territories the planned public investment represents only a small share of the gross domestic product, ranging from $\pounds 63$ per head per annum in Singapore to just over $\pounds 5$ per head per annum in Kenya.

61. In view of the rapid increase in population in most Territories and the urgency of the problem of combating poverty, illiteracy and chronic ill health in the Territories, the Committee emphasizes that development efforts must gather momentum quickly, and believes that the rate of capital formation should therefore be accelerated.

62. Since domestic savings will not be adequate for the investment requirements of most Territories, the Committee is of the opinion that problems relating to obtaining investment funds from external sources, whether from the administering countries, foreign Governments and private institutions, or international organizations, are of great importance. These are problems of both a political and a technical nature and therefore present several facets for consideration, involving as they do the factors creating conditions favourable for such investment. The Committee notes with interest that the Economic Commission for Africa and the Caribbean Organization have given consideration to proposals for the establishment of development banks in the areas of their activities, and that the techniques and institutions for the mobilization of domestic savings for economic development formed a subject of discussion at the fourteenth meeting of the Consultative Committee of the Colombo Plan for Co-operative Economic Development in South and South-East Asia, held in November 1962.23

63. The Committee shares the view of the ILO that investment in the fuller realization of human potentialities can create a particularly valuable stock of "capital" for development. Manpower surveying and assessment, measures for raising the level of productive employment, vocational education and training, management development and related questions should be recognized as closely intertwined parts of a broader human resource programme. The latter, in turn, should be integrated with the programmes and policies for over-all planned development.

64. The Committee notes with satisfaction that WHO is taking a keen interest in development planning in the emerging Territories. It endorses the view that the protection and promotion of the health of the population must underlie any programme to raise the standard of living and that the early association of health planning in an integrated scheme for over-all development can be expected to result in the progressive control of communicable diseases, the reduction of mortality and morbidity and the consequent building up of human manpower resources available for agricultural and industrial purposes.

65. The Committee shares the concern of WHO that there is a tendency to give insufficient importance to health planning in the complex operation of economic and social development in some Territories. This is shown either by a reluctance to bring the health planners into the early phases of the larger and more comprehensive undertaking, or by assigning to the development of health programmes a relatively small share of the available resources in finance and personnel.

66. The Committee welcomes the decision taken by the World Health Assembly in May 1962 to authorize the Director-General to implement an accelerated programme for assisting newly independent States in developing national health plans as a top priority, and the other activities of WHO designed to improve the planning of public health services.

67. Finally, the Committee supports and appreciates the opinion expressed by a number of representatives that formulation of the objectives in development planning must reflect the aims and aspirations of the indigenous inhabitants of the Territories. Consequently, the Committee takes the position that the indigenous peoples should be given adequate representation in territorial Governments. The Committee expresses the view that political self-government is the only prerequisite of economic planning commensurate with the people's needs, wishes and aspirations. In this connexion, the Committee wishes again to refer to operative paragraph 2 of resolution 1514 (XV).

III. Agriculture

68. The Committee takes into account the fact that agriculture plays a dominant role in the economies of many Territories and that the greater part of the indigenous population depends for its livelihood on subsistence farming. It believes that agricultural development should continue at an accelerated pace, especially as the rate of development of many Territories and the improvement in the standards of living of their peoples will for some time continue to depend largely on the agricultural sector of the economy. In over-all programmes of development, high priority should therefore normally be given to agriculture in the allocation of resources, both financial and technical, and special attention should be directed towards the modernization of traditional farming methods, particularly in the African Territories. Encouragement should be given to expansion of the production of both export-earning and import-saving primary industries-principally agriculture, forestry and live-stock.

69. The inadequacy of available statistical data does not permit a full analysis of the progress of the agricultural industry. But it appears that in some Territories there has been little increase in agricultural production. The FAO estimates that in Africa as a whole, *per caput* agricultural production in 1961/1962 remained at the same level as in 1948/1949---1952/1953, while *per caput* food production declined slightly in 1961/1962. In recent years, *per caput* food production in other parts of the world also tended to fall as production lagged behind the growth of population.²⁴

²³ E/CN.14/Res.76 (V); A/AC.35/L.359, para. 43; The Colombo Plan, Eleventh Annual Report of the Consultative Committee, London, H.M.S.O. 1963; Australia: The Colombo Plan, Eleventh Annual Report of the Consultative Committee, 1962, Melbourne.

²⁴ The State of Food and Agriculture, 1962, op. cit., pp. 2 and 14.

70. While the general level of agricultural prices on world markets has continued to decline, changes in the volume of exports of individual crops produced by the Territories have shown diverse patterns. For example, exports of certain crops, such as bananas, cocoa, sugar and tea from the United Kingdom Territories, rose at different rates in 1961, while those of several others, for instance, cloves, coffee and cotton, diminished.

71. In a number of African Territories, including Kenya, Northern Rhodesia and Nyasaland, subsistence production showed no significant expansion and the contribution of African commercialized farming to total production, though increasing, remained small during the period under review.

72. In connexion with the position of the products of forest industries in the economy of the Territories, the Committee takes note of the following observations made by FAO:

(a) Forest products accounts for a substantial share of the world's industrial production and industrial employment. However, consumption per head in the less developed areas is extremely low : one seventeenth of that in the developed areas for sawn wood; one twenty-third for paper and board. The share of less developed areas in total production is even lower than their share in total consumption, so that their productive capacity is not up to their modest requirements. As a consequence, these areas are heavy importers of manufactured forest products, although net exporters of raw material (sawlogs and veneer logs).

(b) The net trade situation for forest products in terms of value in most areas is even more unfavourable. Transportation costs are very high for the exported raw material and are fairly high for the imported forest products, but transportation profits seldom accrue to the less developed areas, which do not have important merchant fleets. On the other hand, the f.o.b. price of imported forest products is much higher than that of exported raw material, since the former embodies all the value added in manufacturing.

(c) In so far as forest products are concerned, future prospects for the less developed areas are no brighter as far as their net trade position is concerned. Even if the rate of expansion of productive capacity were to continue at the rate of recent years, the net deficit would increase substantially by 1970, with a considerable addition to the already heavy burden in terms of foreign exchange.25

73. The importance of expanding the live-stock industry in most Territories has been recognized by the Governments concerned and this is evidenced by the development of veterinary research and field services, live-stock improvement centres and slaughtering and marketing facilities. The level of the output of live-stock products has generally remained low.

74. The Committee commends the attention of the Administering Members concerned to the following observations of FAO on animal production and health in Africa. While these observations relate to Africa as a whole, the Committee believes that they can serve as useful guides, wherever applicable, in dealing with problems in the Non-Self-Governing Territories.

(a) The hazards of live-stock farming in Africa are perhaps greater than in any other region of the world. This is due in many cases to the tsetse fly

(b) The problems of disease control are extremely complicated, and are rendered even more difficult by many factors, among which are the huge distances, lack of communications, droughts, floods, areas of poor land and illiteracy. Nevertheless, much work is being done to control the major epizootics of the regions concerned, and significant advances are being made in the control of contagious bovine pleuropneumonia, tick-borne diseases and parasitism.

(c) Although the milk potential is not great and there are handicaps to the development of dairy farming, there is a growing interest in meat production. The sheep raising industry particularly in the tropical regions, is generally primitive, and feed supplies are deficient. Any programme that would tend to improve these conditions must be planned both on a broad scale and on long-term basis.

(d) Poultry can make a substantial contribution to the relief of protein insufficiency. Success in poultry production depends on the control of disease and the provision of feed from local sources. The average production per hen per year in many villages is at present about forty undersized eggs, compared with 280 to 300 good quality eggs in the top-producing flocks of developed countries.26

75. The Committee notes that traditional farming is almost entirely dependent on family labour and primitive technology and that production is predominantly on a small scale with low average yields.

76. Earlier reports of the Committee have included comments on some aspects of the land problem in the Territories. In the belief that an adequate solution to this problem should be found, with the view of improving indigenous agriculture, the Committee wishes to emphasize again the need for the development of a satisfactory land tenure system and for more effective utilization and conservation of land and other natural resources, particularly in the African Territories. It is also of the opinion that the low level of output by indigenous farmers is partly attributable to the small scale of farming operations, and suggests that encouragement should be given to farm consolidation and enclosure. The Committee is aware that efforts in these fields have been made in certain Territories, notably Kenya, and hopes that such efforts will be continued and intensified and that similar steps will be taken in other Territories. It also hopes that the territorial Governments concerned will explain their land policies and programmes to the people with a view to securing their full co-operation in expediting land reforms.

77. In this connexion, the Committee wishes to reiterate its observation made in 1960²⁷ that the trend towards individual ownership of land opens up the possibility, among other things, of a more rapid expansion of agricultural credit facilities which can serve as an aid to increased production.

78. The Committee realizes that the lack of technological improvements still constitutes a major obstacle to the development of indigenous agriculture, and urges the Administering Members to continue and expand their work in assisting the indigenous farmers in the adoption of modern scientific farming methods. This involves the introduction of higher-yielding varieties and

which effectively inhibits the successful raising of cattle and other live-stock.

 ²⁶ Ibid., p. 149.
²⁷ Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifteenth Session, Supplement No. 15 (A/4371), part two, para. 64.

new crops, better a ¹ more timely soil preparation, application of fertilizers, insecticides and pesticides, row planting, regular and careful weeding, use of rotation systems, operation and maintenance of mechanical equipment, dry-farming practices to reduce the hazards of rain-fed cropping, and the use of water supplies for supplementary irrigation to compensate for erratic and deficient rainfall during the crucial ploughing, planting and growing seasons. The introduction of such techniques should be preceded by a careful investigation of the agronomic and economic factors and by such action as may be necessary to ensure that the farmers concerned are capable of utilizing these techniques wisely and profitably.

79. The Committee is consequently of the opinion that there is need for several measures to improve the situation described. Among these, in the Territories in which they may be applicable, are: comprehensive plans for the development of new and additional products; the adoption and strengthening of measures to protect the important developing agricultural industries against the dumping which sometimes takes place in the case of competitive and subsidized primary products; the establishment and expansion of efficient marketing arrangements for key commodities; the promotion of cooperative development by encouraging small organizations handling the same product to amalgamate into larger, more effective unions; comprehensive programmes of research, agricultural education and extension; financial assistance for promising cultivators; and the creation of conditions to encourage increased investment in the agricultural industry. The Committee notes the programme of action being taken on these lines by a number of territorial Governments in the provision of extension services to farmers, the expansion of rural credit and the improvement of agricultural marketing systems. It considers that advance is needed in all these activities if agricultural progress is to be assured.

80. The Committee notes with satisfaction that growing recognition has generally been given in the development plans of many Territories to the importance of agricultural development. Noting that lack of funds often results in a lowering of the targets originally proposed by survey missions or expert groups and sometimes even jeopardizes the implementation of such plans, the Committee suggests that the Administering Members intensify their efforts to seek the necessary financing for agricultural development plans for the Territories under their administration.

81. In this connexion, the Committee draws attention to the following comments contained in the FAO report mentioned earlier,²⁸ which, the Committee believes, apply to the situation in this respect prevailing in most Territories:

"On the most basic problem of all, that of hunger, two developments may be mentioned. In the lessdeveloped countries themselves there was a considerable extension of planning for agricultural development, and particularly of plans closely integrated into those for general economic development. While it would be too optimistic to suppose that all these plans will be fully realized, they at least indicate a greater awareness of the issues and give promise of more rapid development during the forthcoming United Nations Development Decade than in the past. Similarly, in the more developed countries, under the impact of the world-wide Freedom from Hunger Campaign and related programmes, there were increased efforts among Governments and the general public to step up the flow of material aid from surplus foodstuffs. Here a notable new development is the experimental World Food Programme, jointly sponsored by the United Nations and FAO, and expected to come into operation late in 1962. The programme is designed to explore methods of using the surplus food production of the more developed countries to aid economic development in less developed countries, and to combat hunger and malnutrition. Though small in relation to some bilateral programmes, it is potentially of great significance...

"Although the basic problems of agriculture are likely to remain substantially the same for some years or even decades, it is encouraging to note that the world food and agricultural situation is no longer essentially static An analysis of probable trends to 1970 of demand, production and trade in agricultural products has recently been published by FAO. The study is disquieting in that it brings out the danger that, unless drastic action is taken to increase production in the less developed countries, the food supply may fall increasingly behind domestic demand. At the same time, surplus production of export commodities may become even more widespread, while the demand for farm products in world trade may grow only slowly or in some cases even decline. Nevertheless, with rising populations and incomes, a rapid increase may be expected in the demand for some commodities, notably forest products and (especially in less developed countries) live-stock products."

82. A central problem of the live-stock industry in several African Territories is that of over-stocking in relation to the carrying capacity of the land at present technical levels. This reflects the fact that for many peoples in primarily pastoral areas, cattle are a major form of savings and are therefore kept even though their productivity may be very low. The United Kingdom representative stated that various approaches were being made to this problem by the territorial Governments concerned. First, there was emphasis on the improvement of marketing facilities, through the construction of abattoirs and canneries, and through the opening up of overseas markets. Secondly, there was extension work among the cattle-owners themselves, in an attempt to persuade them to give priority to quality as opposed to quantity. Agricultural credit organizations in a number of Territories made loans for the purchase of improved breeding stock. This was a complex problem to which there was no simple solution. Advance was needed on a number of fronts at the same time.

83. The Committee considers that the Administering Members should, where appropriate, emphasize the development of the forest industry, bearing in mind that, as pointed out above, the future prospects of demand for forest products are promising, the flexibility and range of the production functions of the industry make it a very suitable sector for investment and nearly all the Territories possess unused or insufficiently utilized forest resources. Some Territories lacking forest resources could with proper planning and investment develop them.

84. The Committee believes that the local inhabitants can achieve fuller utilization of forest resources by adopting improved methods. The main need is for the adaptation of advanced technology and for applied research rather than for basic research. This is not to deny

²⁸ The State of Food and Agriculture, 1962, op. cit., pp. 1-2.

the need for fundamental research, both for the discipline and training it provides and for the possibility it always offers of radical new discoveries; but, in terms of simple cost benefits, efforts on a less exalted plane are likely to be more fruitful.

85. The representative of the United Kingdom informed the Committee that there had been a substantial expansion in timber production in the Borneo Territories (North Borneo and Sarawak) and that largescale afforestation projects carried out by the Colonial Development Corporation and external private investors in Swaziland were providing the basis both for the local production of wood products (wood pulp and chip board) and the export of processed timber itself. Some members of the Committee disputed the value of this investment to the people of Swaziland because of the participation of external private capital on a profit-making basis and because they considered that in this project there was no real indigenous participation, while other members considered that it was of substantial local benefit. In Dominica, there were plans for major investment in the forest industry. The Committee notes the work being done by Governments in a number of Territories in surveying forest resources, protecting the forest areas, encouraging sound silvicultural practices and in providing services such as access roads and power supplies for forest industries. The Committee considers that policies along this line should be intensified.

 In this connexion, the Committee wishes to draw attention to a number of observations made in the FAO Report on the State of Food and Agriculture, 1962, which are believed to be pertinent and useful. According to this report, urgent attention is required in regard to minimum input techniques for developing certain types of forest following exploitation of the original stand; inexpensive methods of protection from fire, grazing, etc., in ways that allow for the interests and traditional habits of the local inhabitants; plantation forestry as related to all species of possible interest; suitable logging tools and suite le combinations of different types of logging equipment with manual work and the use of animals adapted to the local environment and labour supply conditions; and methods of low-cost forest road construction and maintenance. Among the recommendations, FAO suggests that engineering studies should be intensified on the use of timber for local housing and non-residential construction; it emphasizes the great need for improved plant layout and the considerable scope which exists for the introduction of modern methods of stock control in saw-milling; the desirability of accommodating on industrial estates many branches of the forest industry that are suitable for operations on a modest scale; the development of satisfactory arrangements for pooling, analysing, transmitting and receiving relevant information from external and internal sources; and the planning of all new ventures from the outset with a view to subsequent expansion.²⁹

87. The Committee notes the efforts being made towards the promotion of fisheries development in many Territories with a seashore or with inland waters. For instance, in a number of Territories administered by the United Kingdom, government assistance has been directed mainly towards improving facilities and methods used in production and distribution, operating schemes for loans to fishermen, organizing and developing new enterprises and providing training courses in fishing.

 The Committee further notes that production in almost all these Territories is normally based on local demand and comes from inland fisheries and, in some cases, from fish ponds as well, the level of the total catch being generally low. Little progress has been made in the expansion of marine fisheries. Modern facilities for freezing, processing and canning are usually lacking. An important exception is American Samoa, which enjoys a favourable balance of trade, largely because of the exports of the tuna-packing industry. The Committee hopes that the Administering Members concerned will provide more technical and financial assistance to these Territories in the exploitation and utilization of fishery resources with a view to accelerating their economic progress. Since fisheries provide food proteins otherwise difficult to obtain, their development would greatly contribute to the improvement of the nutritional standards of the people.

IV. Manufacturing industries

89. From the information before it in 1963, the Committee notes that on the whole industrial production in the Non-Self-Governing Territories has remained at a low level. Most of the Territories are still in a preparatory stage for general industrialization and the development of manufacturing industries has only just begun. However, in several, for example, Kenya, Singapore and especially Hong Kong, manufacturing output has continued to rise.

90. The Committee is aware that in most if not all the Territories, even the more industrialized Territory of Kenya, there exist conditions limiting the growth of manufacturing, such as the paucity of the natural resources known at present, the scarcity of local capital, the shortage of persons with industrial skills, the inadequacy of certain basic overhead facilities and the restricted scope of the local market at the present levels of income.

91. The Committee was informed of the measures which were being taken by the Governments of the Territories to overcome these obstacles to industrial development and considers that further action should be taken to eliminate them as far and as quickly as possible. In order to remove these obstacles, the Administering Members would be required to pursue effective policies and programmes designed to accelerate the rate of industrial growth as one means of assisting the Territories to attain economic viability.

92. The Administering Members recognize the need to establish industries where conditions are suitable.³⁰ The Committee believes that there are opportunities in the Territories for the development of certain new and additional industries, which could prosper, given the necessary assistance from the Administering Members.

93. The Committee was informed that in a number of Territories, special measures were being taken to promote or encourage manufacturing industries. In Singapore, for example, the main emphasis of the Development Programme is on the encouragement of industry, and a special Economic Development Board has been established for this purpose. In many Territories in the Caribbean and elsewhere, special tax concessions are being given to new industries. In Kenya, Northern Rhodesia and other Territories, government established bodies provide financing for industrial development. Industrial

³⁰ Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifteenth Session, Supplement No. 15 (A/4371), part two, para. 72.

states have been established, and one is planned for Basutoland.

94. The Committee believes that it is necessary for the Administering Members to take measures to avoid or eliminate the undesirable effects of industrialization. It emphasizes, in particular, that the indigenous peoples of the Territories must be associated with all enterprises and must be taught to qualify themselves for an increasing measure of technical and supervisory responsibility.

95. The Committee notes with satisfaction that surveys of the economy of a number of the Territories under United Kingdom administration (including Basutoland, Bechuanaland, Kenya, Mauritius, Nyasaland, Swaziland and Zanzibar) have been conducted in recent years by experts appointed by the United Kingdom Government or the territorial Government concerned, in some cases with the assistance of IBRD, and that in these surveys, particular attention was paid to the problem of industrialization.

96. The Committee considers it desirable to carry out surveys of this kind in other Territories, since expert opinion should be sought in developing industrial policies and programmes, which should be co-ordinated with those for other sections of the economy. It therefore decided to examine that part of the economic surveys of the above-mentioned United Kingdom Territories dealing with industrialization.³¹

97. In the course of the examination, the Committee noted the following:

(a) The information on manufacturing provided by these surveys related mainly or entirely to activity in industrial plants. The scope and range of such activity varied from Territory to Territory. At one extreme, Basutoland had no factories or industrial undertakings. In the remaining Territories, manufactuing was characterized by the predominance of smallscale of production, mainly by private concerns, many of which were owned by overseas investors; the preponderance of industries producing consumer goods for the local market and processing local raw materials of agricultural or mineral origin primarily for export; and the relative simplicity of manufacturing processes. In a few Territories, the manufacture of building materials and services for mechanical repairs generally were incipient industries, their rise being associated respectively with the expansion of building and construction and the increase in machinery, transport equipment and other durable goods.

(b) The manufacturing industry in Kenya had reached a more advanced stage of development than that in other Territories under consideration, as evidenced by the fact that Kenya had more industrial establishments of all kinds (1,038 in 1957, the year for which more complete data are available), employed a larger number of workers (57,000 in 1957) and had attained a higher net output (± 17.1 million in 1957). However, in all of these Territories, except the unindustrialized Territory of Basutoland, manufacturing had not been developed sufficiently to affect the scope or the structure of the economy, even in the case of Kenya, where it contributed only about 10 per cent of the Territory's total production.

(c) The experts undertaking the economic surveys of the Territories in question felt that current government policies and programmes could not meet the particular requirements of manufacturing industry, and made a series of recommendations for revising these policies and programmes, as well as for certain industrial projects.

 The Committee realizes that the above-mentioned recommendations for the Territories concerned were made with a view to the promotion of industrial development, and notes with satisfaction that some of these recommendations are being implemented. Recalling resolution 1817 (XVII), adopted by the General Assen.bly on 18 December 1962, the Committee urges the United Kingdom Government to take immediate steps to put into effect all the recommendations on industrial development relating to the three High Commission Territories and thus to relieve the economic and social situation in those Territories. In this connexion, the Committee calls upon all the Administering Members to take quick action to resolve the problems associated with industrialization in the Territories under their respective administration.

V. Mining

99. Information before the Committee indicates that mining has been a major economic activity in several Territories, e.g., Brunei, and especially Northern Rhodesia and British Guiana. The economy of Brunei is largely based on oil and in recent years production has steadily declined owing to the exhaustion of known oil reserves.

100. The Copperbelt in Northern Rhodesia is the largest source of copper in the Commonwealth and the fourth largest in the world. It is the most important industry in Northern Rhodesia, and supplies over 90 per cent of the Territory's exports. Since 1957, demand for copper has declined and the expansion in production has led to a fall in prices which continued into 1961, when the Territory produced 62! 500 short tons valued at $\pounds 114$ million.

101. British Guiana holds third place among the world's producers of bauxite. The extraction of this mineral accounts for 90 per cent of the total output of the Territory. There was a downward trend from 1956 to 1958 when output rose again, reaching 2.47 million long tons in 1960, roughly equal to the record level reached in 1956, the value of which was $\pounds 5.5$ million. This rise is production resulted from an expanding demand for most grades of bauxite. However, in 1961 production fell to 2.37 rillion long tons; the value of this output is not available. An alumina plant was opened in 1961 and 116,000 tons of alumina were exported in that year.

102. Other minerals produced in Northern Rhodesia and British Guiana include cobalt, diamonds, gold, lead, manganese and zinc, which are of lesser economic importance compared with bauxite and copper.

103. Mining industries in the Territories possessing mineral resources have been established primarily with a view to large-scale production for export and are in large measure controlled by non-indigenous financial interests. The indigenous population is involved in min-

⁸¹ The Economic Development of Kenya, op. cit., pp. 145-165 and 299; P. Selwyn and T. Y. Watson: Report on the Economic Development of the Zanzibar Protectorate, Zanzibar 1962, chapter 5; Zanzibar: General Statement of the Aims and Policies of His Highness' Government, November 1961, Legislative Council Sessional Paper No. 15 of 1961, p. 14; Federation of Rhodesia and Nyasaland: Report on an Economic Survey of Nyasaland, 1958-1959 (e. Fed.132), pp. 269-271; Basutoland, Bechuanaland Protectorate and Swaziland: Report of an Economic Survey Mission, op. cit., pp. 51, 80-81, 225-227, 263-271, 410, 445; J. E. Meade and others: The Economic and Social Structure of Mauritius, London, Methuen and Co. Ltd., 1961, pp. 2, 128, 131, 231-238.

ing chiefly as a source of unskilled or semi-skilled labour, complementing predominantly non-indigenous managerial, supervisory and technical manpower.

104. Comprehensive data on the labour force employed in mining are usually lacking. The available statistics for Northern Rhodesia, however, show that in 1961, the monthly average number of persons engaged in mining was 44,640, of whom 37,800, or 86 per cent, were Africans; total annual wages and salaries in mining amounted to $\pounds 27$ million, of which $\pounds 15.9$ million, or about 60 per cent, accrued to non-indigenous employees; and the average annual income per man was $\pounds 2,326$ for non-Africans and $\pounds 293$ for Africans.

105. On the basis of this information and since the mining industry in Northern Rhodesia is more advanced than that in any other Territory, the Committee is of the opinion : at the contribution of mining to an improvement in the standards of living of the indigenous peoples of the Territories is often relatively small. It wishes to stress once more the pressing need for the Administering Members to continue and expand policies and programmes of technical training for people in the Territories under their administration in order to spread the benefits accruing from modern industries, including mining, among the indigenous people. It notes, however, ine contribution made by the industry to the vocational training of indigenous personnel.

106. Among the more important factors determining the economic structure of mining is the method of mining. Mining at depth, for example, involves skilled semimanual operations and does not lend itself to intensive mechanization in all its phases. Surface mining, on the other hand, affords a wide choice of technological processes, ranging from labour intensive methods to highly mechanized ones. As in the case of deep mining, mechanized mining necessitates the use of skilled manpower.

107. Surface mining on a small scale is usually associated with deposits which are scattered or unreliable and are not, therefore, attractive to big companies: production of gold and diamonds in British Guiana entirely by individuals, for example, is due to the prevalence of such conditions. Mining at depth and large-scale surface mining, on the other hand, require large technical and financial resources which can only be secured by big companies.

108. The bulk of the mineral output of the Territories is in effect accounted for by big companies operating on a large scale: prominent examples are copper in Northern Rhodesia, which is derived from six mines owned by two companies with a total capital investment of $\pounds 220$ million; and bauxite mining in British Guiana, which is controlled by two companies.

109. As stated earlier, mining companies in the Territories are largely non-indigenous interests owned by nationals of the administering countries and other nonresidents. These various interests in turn are interrelated, a fact which is largely responsible for the high degree of organization encompassing all phases of major mining activities in the Territories.

110. Except in rare instances, the territorial Government assumes no direct role in the actual exploitation of mineral resources, but plays an important part in preparing the ground for mining development and in promoting it, for example, by undertaking geological and mineral surveys and by furnishing transport and other facilities. Moreover, legal provisions regarding ownership of mineral rights and prospecting also give the Government an efficacious instrument in guiding mining development.

111. The Committee notes that in some cases the Territories possessing mineral resources do not derive from mining as much benefit as might be expected for their economic development, bearing in mind particularly that a considerable share of the proceeds of mining is often devoted to the remuneration of the risk capital obtained from abroad and the mainly non-indigenous management and skilled labour, and that the contribution of the mining companies in the form of toyalties, taxes and other benefits is not always as large as might be hoped for.

112. In summary, the Committee recommends that in so far as this is not already being done, the Administering Members should assist the territorial Governments in making accurate surveys of the mineral resources of each Territory, and in preparing plans for the orderly exploitation of the resources, with the following objectives in view:

(a) Conservation of the mineral resources of each Territory so that an adequate quantity of minerals will be available for future industrial development and to meet the needs of future generations;

(b) Stabilization of production;

(c) Efficient exploitation so as not to waste irreplaceable minerals, manpower and capital and so as to yield the greatest benefits to the peoples of the Non-Self-Governing Territories concerned.

(d) Development of as much processing and fabrication of the minerals as possible within each Territory in order to provide the maximum amount of employment and other benefits for the people of the Territory;

(c) Training of the inhabitents of each Territory so that they can serve at all levels in the exploitation and processing of their mineral resources and the provision of opportunities for their increasing participation in the mining industry in terms of capital investment and management.

113. The Committee expresses the hope that the Administering Members concerned will now take measures to these ends.

VI. Labour

114. In many Territories, particularly those in Africa, there exist heterogeneous economies and diverse cultural and ethnic groups. The structure of manpower varies considerably from one group to another, reflecting the economic system or systems with which it is chiefly associated. Non-indigenous manpower, whether permanently or temporarily resident, is almost entirely within the modern sector of the economy. To this sector, in whose development it has played a dominant role, such manpower has provided entrepreneurship and technical and managerial skill, the nature of which varies from Territory to Territory.

115. The great majority of the indigenous manpower, on the one hand, is occupied in the traditional economic systems. Those occupied in the modern economic system are generally at the unskilled level. A basic feature common to the great majority of economically active indigenous persons is the lack of sufficient training which results in a low level of technical skill and a high degree of occupational instability.

116. These persons may be divided into three major groups. The first group includes persons who are permanently employed within the traditional agricultural economy. Although production in traditional agriculture is primarily for subsistence, the need for money income makes it necessary for farmers to produce a marketable surplus. It is not possible to assess the dis ribution of manpower between production for sale and subsistence production, since output of the same product is often in part commercialized and in part consumed directly, as is the case with food crops generally. Even when certain crops are grown entirely for export, they are usually produced in conjunction with subsistence farming. The pattern becomes more complex when farmers also engage in temporary employment in non-agricultural sectors of the domestic economy or abroad.

117. The second group, which comprises persons permanently separated from the traditional agricultural economy, usually represents a small proportion of the total economically active population and is employed in industry and various other urban occupations.

118. The third group consists of persons domiciled in rural areas but temporarily employed outside traditional farming either in other sectors of the domestic economy or abroad.

119. A substantial proportion of wage earners in the African Territories are probably migrants.

120. The direction and magnitude of inter-territorial migratory flows are better known than in the case of internal movements. Available information indicates that among the main centres of attraction for the purpose of migration for work are the Republic of South Africa and Southern Rhodesia, and that the main centres of supply include Nyasaland and the three High Commission Territories, whose economies depend to a great extent on the earnings of labour employed abroad. One prominent example is Basutoland, from which 83,000 persons, or 43 per cent of the adult male population, are temporarily absent at any one time. The Economic Survey Mission to the High Commission Territories stated in its report, published in 1960, that unless and until the forces responsible for the Territory's poor agricultural showing were reversed, more and more of the Basuto would be forced to seek work in South Africa as the only alternative to poverty at home, and that there was no assurance that work in South Africa would always be available in requisite amounts or on satisfactory terms.

121. The Committee, therefore, cannot place too much emphasis on the need for more effective action by the Administering Members concerned to combat poverty in the Territories by improving the productivity of the indigenous people. It notes with satisfaction that in some cases, special machinery has been created to look after the needs and interests of migrant workers, and that labour officers have been appointed among whose responsibilities it is to ensure that the conditions of work of migrant workers are satisfactory.

122. The Committee welcomes the action taken by the ILO in the field of rural development, the main objective of which is to expand the opportunities for rural peoples to have full, remunerative and productive employment with a view to ensuring for them a decent standard of living and the chance of economic and social progress. The Committee hopes, with the ILO, that some of the latter's activities being undertaken under its Rural Development Programme, initiated in 1962, will soon lead to EPTA and Special Fund projects. The Committee notes that in 1960 the ILO made a study of the more important aspects of the problem of internal movements confronting developing countries and shares the view that there is a need for more intensive studies of particular situations for the purpose of drawing up recommendations for remedial action.

123. As indicated earlier, the mainspring and dominam feature of the modern economy of many of the Territories is, in general, the production of primary products, mainly agricultural and, to a lesser extent, mineral, for export. Available data on the distribution of wage earners by major branches of economic activity also indicate the preponderance of agriculture in contrast to mining, which employs a relatively smaller number of persons in relation to output. This is due in part to the high degree of mechanization in this field. The proportion of the labour force employed in manufacturing industries is usually much lower, a reflection of the early stage of industrialization.

124. In some Territories the demand for work in certain industries exceeds the wage-earning opportunities, and unemployment is giving cause for concern. The Committee notes the efforts made by Governments to solve this problem and the contribution made by the employment offices established in many Territories. In this connexion, the Committee reiterates the view already expressed in its previous reports³² that there is a need to carry out studies and inquiries which could contribute to the more efficient and scientific use of available manpower resources. Such studies should cover in particular the category of persons referred to in paragraph 118 above.

125. The Committee endorses the opinion of the ILO that an integrated approach should be evolved towards the wide range of action for manpower development and that it should be set in the general context of planned development. The Committee notes with satisfaction that the ILO is giving increasing attention to research, promotional and operational activities concerning different aspects of manpower development; that it has paid particular attention to employment problems; and that it is organizing an Inter-Regional Study Tour on Manpower Assessment and Planning intended for participants from developing countries chosen from among public officials.

126. Although the vast majority of the indigenous people in most Territories are unskilled and semi-skilled wage earners and farmers, there is a small but growing group of entrepreneurs, managers and skilled we 'rers about whom as yet little is known, but who are of vital importance to the economic development of these Territories. The stage of development of indigenous entrepreneurship and skill varies in accordance with the general stage of economic development of the Territory, with the degree of contact through commercial firms and other modern undertakings, and with the general level of education.

127. The majority of managerial and technical posts in East and Central frican Territories, for example, are still held by expatriate or domiciled non-Africans. The average earnings of workers show a very substantial discrepancy among different ethnic groups. The Com-

³² Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifteenth Session, Supplement No. 15 (A/4371), part two, paras. 126 and 202; and Ibid., Sixteenth Session, Supplement No. 15 (A/4785), part two, para. 126.

mittee wishes to emphasize once again that these conditions urgently require adjustment and that labour policy should aim at promoting full equality of opportunity and treatment in employment. It believes that continuous and self-sustained economic growth on any significant scale is impossible without a broad base of skilled manpower and that the dissemination of skills among the indigenous people is therefore a condition for such growth. It notes, however, that in many other Territories the indigenous people occupy positions at all levels of the economy.

128. The Committee notes with satisfaction the efforts being made by the ILO towards the development of manpower in the industrial sector of the economies of the developing countries. The ILO's concern with industrial development is not limited to questions of the organization of production and technical and vocational training, but also includes the improvement of conditions of work and industrial relations.

129. The structure of the labour force described above explains in part the relatively slow pace of growth of the trade union movement in most Territories. However, the movement has continued to gain in significance, and both the number of unions and their membership have increased in several Territories. One of the factors contributing to the development of trade unionism has been the direct encouragement given to such development by the territorial Governments through their labour departments. These departments promote the education of workers in the principles and techniques of trade union organization and provide training courses for trade union leaders.

130. The strength of the trade unions varies considerably from Territory to Territory. The movement is vigorous in certain Territories, while in others, the development of stable unions is impeded and the possibility of effective collective action is reduced, owing to the existence of more trade unions than the total enrolled membership would normally justify. In a few Territories the movement is at an early stage of development, and in some others trade union organizations do not yet exist.

131. Where migration for employment and settlement has created plural societies, workers of different races belong to the same trade unions. In some Territories, however, trade unions have developed on a racial basis. In Kenya and Northern Rhodesia, for example, European, Asian and African workers are organized separately. The Committee notes, however, that in Kenya the membership of two large trade unions includes workers of all races; and that in Northern Rhodesia, the constitutional provisions of some unions permit multi-racial membership. The Committee wishes to reiterate the view expressed in 1960 as follows:

"While freedom of association necessarily implies the right of members of an association to determine the criteria of membership, the Committee is concerned at the dangers inherent in organization along racial lines. It considers that trade unions should be constituted without regard to race, national origin or political affiliations and should determine their trade union objectives on the basis of the common economic and social interests of all workers."³³

132. The Committee notes that increasing trade union activity in some Territories has influenced wages and

conditions of work, which are being negotiated by collective bargaining procedures. The Committee also notes that in many industries and services where agreements covering conditions of service are not made by direct agreement between the workers' organization and the employer, wages councils and other statutory machinery are still widely used for fixing wages and conditions of employment. The Committee believes that these interim measures, though temporarily useful, should be replaced without undue delay by regular collective bargaining procedures.

133. The extent of government action in fixing minimum wages through labour advisory boards and other similar bodies varies greatly according to the Territory. Minimum wages may be prescribed by law for all occupations or may be determined by law in some industries and by agreement in other industries or occupations. In certain Territories statutory wage levels are prescribed for unskilled workers in defined areas. The Committee welcomes this development as a useful, though preliminary, measure and expresses the hope that this measure will be extended to all areas where collective bargaining procedures do not exist.

134. Wages are usually based on daily or monthly rates, although in some cases they are based on hourly rates. In certain Territories the practice of paying workers on piece rates is wide-spread. The Committee notes with concern that according to the report of the IBRD Economic Survey Mission to Kenya, which visited the Territory in 1961,³⁴ general wage levels there have not yet become sufficient to support the worker and his family in an urban environment. A similar situation has existed in other Territories.

135. In certain Territories, workers' organizations have taken steps to raise incomes and living standards. For example, there were 116 labour disputes in Northern Rhodesia during 1961, of which sixty-five involved stoppages of work resulting in a loss of 19,460 man-days. The main causes of the strikes were the workers' demands for higher wages and better working conditions.

136. The Committee is of the opinion that the territorial Governments which have not already done so should adopt wage policies designed to provide a worker and his family with a decent standard of living. The trade unions, while expecting higher wages for their members, should continue to emphasize to the workers the need for higher productivity.

137. Housing, medical care and other welfare facilities are provided to workers in various circumstances. Many Territories have legal provisions which require employers either to provide the workers with satisfactory housing or to pay a housing allowance, amounting in some cases to 30 per cent of the wages determined by the employment contract. In some instances provision of housing and food for workers and their families is prescribed by law. This applies particularly to migrant workers and workers under written contracts who are employed far from their homes. In the view of the Committee, labour policies concerning wage levels and welfare facilities, including education, should always make it possible for migrant workers and other workers who come from distant homes to establish their families in the vicinity of employment.

138. Heurs of work are regulated by statute in many cases, but negotiation in this respect is to an increasing extent effected by collective agreements. With

34 The Economic Development of Kenya, op. cit., p. 212.

³³ Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifteenth Session, Supplement No. 15 (A/4371), part two, para. 202.

some differences for the various industries, a working week of forty-eight hours is common in many Territories.

VII. External trade

139. During the period under review, there were no significant changes in the structure of the external trade of the Territories. The export sector of the economy, which is the most powerful determinant of the level of income in most of the Territories, is still very narrowly based. These Territories generally produce only a few primary agricultural and mineral commodities in a raw or very simply processed form for sale in world markets.

140. The instability that results from this narrow foundation is obvious, especially in a period of heavy declines in the prices of exports from the Territories which are mostly primary producers and are therefore particularly affected by market fluctuations in the highly developed industrialized countries.

141. Fluctuations in prices and in the volume of world demand for primary products exported by the Territories have been a major factor in their external trade. Technological changes, as well as changes in production patterns in the highly developed industrialized countries, have led to a constantly diminishing share of imports of primary products in relation to total imports so that even high rates of growth in these countries seem no longer able to raise the demand for primary commodities to a level where total demand would balance potential supply at sufficiently remunerative prices. Since this seems to be an irreversible process, the Committee considers that the Territories should pay utmost attention to the implications involved.

142. Recent experience in the Non-Self-Governing Territories has revealed the same general trend: a great divergence between the volume and the value of exports, the latter having increased only slightly, while the former has risen substantially. Therefore, it would be shortsighted to hope that any new expansion in economic activity in the highly developed areas of the world would bring in its wake a radical change in the prevailing trends in primary commodity prices. In this connexion, the Committee draws the attention of the Administering Members to General Assembly resolution 1785 (XVII) of 8 December 1962, in which the need for international action in the field of primary commodity stabilization was emphasized.

143. The Committee is aware that in many Territories, especially those under United Kingdom administration, marketing boards have succeeded to a very considerable extent in maintaining stable prices to producers in a period of wide fluctuations of world market prices. The Committee feels, nevertheless, that the solution in the long run lies in increased efforts aimed at industrialization and diversification of production patterns in agriculture, in order to achieve a more balanced growth of the various sectors of the economy and to lessen the present degree of dependence on external factors.

144. Just as the commodity structure of the exports of most of the Territories reveals a pattern characteristic of a primary producing economy, so the structure of imports is typical of an under-developed economy whose main requirements from the outside world are manufactured goods. 145. The Committee notes that the recent changes in the structure of imports of the Territories under the United Kingdom administration have had both favourable and less favourable aspects. For instance, imports of machinery to these Territories have recently increased from 9 to 11 per cent of total imports. As an indicator of enhanced economic activity, and particularly as a reflection of increased efforts aimed at speeding up economic development, this should be viewed as an encouraging feature. As for individual Territories, the ratio of imports of capital goods to total imports has increased by over 70 per cent in Hong Kong, by 45 per cent in Singapore, by 33 per cent in Mauritius and by 30 per cent in British Guiana.

146. A less encouraging feature in almost all United Kingdom Territories has been the continued increase in the ratio of imports of food, drink and tobacco to total imports, an indication that these Territories should seek to achieve a substantial degree of agricultural diversification and processing to enable wider import substitution. The representative of the United Kingdom pointed out that in certain circumstances there may be advantages in using scarce land largely for the production of cash crops for export rather than for the production of food crops, and that the development of industries leads to an increased demand for foodstuffs.

147. The Committee notes with concern that with the expansion of imports in recent years to satisfy the needs of the increasing populations the value of imports has advanced more rapidly than that of exports, resulting in a deterioration in the balance of trade of most Territories (e.g., Fiji, Mauritius, Zanzibar and several United Kingdom Territories in the Caribbean area), particularly those relying on one or two primary products. The unfavourable terms of trade have also been a contributing factor in the deficit in the balance of trade of these Territories. The unfavourable movement in import and export prices has had an impact on development policy and on money income.

148. The United Kingdom Territories in the years 1959-1961 showed deficits in their balance of payments on current account. These deficits were covered by public and private funds from abroad, although the level of long-term capital inflow was lower in 1961 than in the two previous years, owing to the reduction in private investments. This is an indication that potential private investors were reluctant to make investments in these Territories owing to the uncertain prospects of most primary commodity markets. In certain Territories (e.g., Kenya), political uncertainties even caused an outright flight of private capital.

149. In general, there has been a gradual, if slow, expansion in the external trade of the Territories during recent years. A large part of this trade has continued to be conducted with the respective metropolitan countries and with others in the same currency area. However, the Committee notes with interest that in the United Kingdom Territories, the share of exports to the metropolitan country and the rest of the sterling area has declined a little, while exports to other highly developed industrialized countries have expanded steadily. The directional pattern of imports into these Territories has undergone a similar change.

150. The Committee draws the attention of the Administering Members to the recommendations contained in General Assembly resolution 1785 (XVII) concerning the need for: expansion of the trade of developing countries in primary commodities as well as in semi-manufactured and manufactured goods; the removal by industrialized countries of obstacles, restrictions and discriminatory practices in world trade; and the adaptation of an institutional framework for international co-operation in the field of trade.

151. The Committee notes that the various international organizations dealing with regional economic matters attach great importance to the development of external trade.

152. The Economic Commission for Africa, at its fifth annual session, held in March 1963, adopted a resolution³⁵ welcoming the decision of the Economic and Social Council and the General Assembly to convene the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development. In this resolution, it expressed the hope that the Conference would, among other things, recommend that the gains derived by developing countries from international trade be expanded at a rate commensurate with their development needs and in any event at a rate not less than the rate of growth of developed countries, and that a principle of price parity in world trade should be formally adopted on the analogy of the price support programmes many of the industrialized countries have in their domestic economies.

153. The Commission also decided to study the problem of establishing an African common market as well as the possibility of creating a clearing system within a payment union among African countries.³⁶

154. The Caribbean Organization has sought to strengthen its Central Secretariat by recruiting market analysis and trade promotion experts.³⁷

155. At its nineteenth session, held in March 1963, the Economic Commission for Asia and the Far East adopted a resolution³⁸ on accelerated measures for regional economic development of trade and industry.

156. In the course of its fourteenth meeting, held in November 1962, the Consultative Committee of the Colombo Plan for Co-operative Economic Development in South and South-East Asia particularly stressed the importance of opportunities for increasing overseas markets for products of developing countries, and of the expansion of trade between developing countries themselves. It also paid special attention to the worsening of the terms of trade for primary producers, a problem which it considered should be tackled through appropriate adjustments in the demand and supply conditions for primary products.³⁹

157. The GATT has recently paid special attention to the trade problems in less-developed countries. The contracting parties to GATT agreed in December 1961^{40} on a declaration on the promotion of the trade of less-developed countries. Work is being done towards the implementation of this declaration.

158. The Committee notes the conclusions of CICT contained in the report of its tenth session, held in

³⁶ E/CN.14/Res.86(V) and 87(V).

³⁷ Caribbean Organization: *The Caribbean*, vol. 11, No. 2 and 3, (October-November 1962), Hato Rey, Puerto Rico.

³⁸ ECAFE/99.
³⁹ Australia: The Colombo Plan, Eleventh Annual Report of the Consultative Committee, op. cit., p. viii.

May of 1962,⁴¹ concerning the trade problems of primary producing countries, as well as the action taken on this matter by the Economic and Social Council and the General Assembly. The Committee believes that these conclusions and the subsequent action taken are applicable to most of the Non-Self-Governing Territories.

159. At its tenth session, CICT noted that the prospect for further economic growth and development of the less-developed countries dependent on a narrow range of exports continued to depend heavily on the sustained expansion of their export earnings. It emphasized the importance of national, regional and international action to promote the expansion of their export earnings through creating new or broader markets.

160. CICT reaffirmed the view that the long-term problem should be approached by action on the part of both industrial and primary producing countries, including measures towards structural adjustment in their respective economies to facilitate diversification in primary producing countries.

161. At its thirty-fourth session, the Economic and Social Council⁴² stressed the importance of research into measures to stabilize the prices of primary commodities at remunerative levels and thus contribute to satisfactory terms of trade and levels of export income for the primary producing countries.

162. The General Assembly, at its seventeenth session, adopted resolution 1829 (XVII) on 18 December 1962 urging CICT to complete studies on compensatory financing for fluctuations in export receipts of countries exporting primary products and further urging CICT and the Economic and Social Council to accelerate the study of solutions to the long-term trade problems of primary producing countries.

163. The Committee notes that among the functions of FAO, as set forth in its constitution, is that of developing recommendations for the adoption of international policies with respect to agricultural commodity arrangements. In FAO the term "agricultural commodity" includes fish, marine and forestry products. The governing bodies of FAO give close attention to the problems of international trade of these commodities, as well as production and consumption.

164. The specific responsibility for periodic reviews of the world agricultural commodity situation is entrusted to the FAO Committee on Commodity Problems. In the case of major agricultural commodities affected or likely to be affected by special difficulties, commodity study groups open to interested countries are provided for. Special provisions ensure that, in appropriate cases, representation of the interests of Non-Self-Governing Territories is included. At present there are five commodity study groups; two of these are of direct interest to Non-Self-Governing Territories, e.g., the groups on cocoa and the one on coconut and coco-nut products.

165. In the consideration of international commodity arrangements, FAO also deals with matters relating to improvements in production, distribution and marketing. Assistance is also given by FAO to the countries and Territories concerned largely through EPTA to help them with their production and marketing problems.

³⁵ E/CN.14/Res.79(V).

⁴⁰ GATT: The Activities of GATT, 1961/1962, Sales No. GATT/1962-64, pp. 35-38.

⁴¹ E/3644 and E/CN.13/55.

⁴² Resolution 915 (XXXIV).

166. The Committee notes that in many Territories, particularly those in Africa, vigorous efforts are being made to transform the traditional economy into a modern economy, and therefore considers that these Territories should not be regarded primarily as a resource area for the highly developed industrial countries but that they should be developed in the interest of their own economic growth and benefit.

ANNEX I

Studies on economic advancement in Non-Self-Governing Territories

The Committee considers that the summary records of the discussions on economic advancement in Non-Self-Governing Territories at its fourteenth session, together with the following studies which were examined by the Committee, should be regarded as part of its present report:

- 1. A/AC.35/L.368 Major economic trends in selected Non-Self-Governing Territories (United Nations Secretariat)
- 2. A/AC.35/L.369 Development planning and land reform in selected Non-Self-Governing Territories (United Nations Secretariat)
- 3. A/AC.35/L.370 Some economic activities in selected Non-Self-Governing Territories (United Nations Secretariat)
- 4. A/AC.35/L.375 Labour conditions in Non-Self-Governing Territories (United Nations Secretariat)
- 5. A/AC.35/L.376 International bank loans and IDA credits for projects in Non-Self-Governing Territories (IBRD)
- 6. A/AC.35/L.377 International collaboration and technical assistance in Non-Self-Governing Territories (United Nations Secretariat)
- 7. A/AC.35/L.379 Land reform in Kenya (Information transmitted to the United Nations Secretariat by the United Kingdom Mission to the United Nations)

ANNEX II

Resolution submitted for the consideration of the General Assembly

The General Assembly,

Recalling that by resolutions 564 (VI) of 18 January 1952, 846 (IX) of 22 November 1954, 1152 (XII) of 26 November 1957 and 1537 (XV) of 15 December 1960 it approved or took note of the reports on economic conditions prepared by the Committee on Information from Non-Self-Governing Territories in 1951, 1954, 1957 and 1960,

Having received and considered a report on economic advancement in Non-Self-Governing Territories prepared by the Committee on Information from Non-Self-Governnig Territories at its fourteenth session in 1963,

1. Approves the report on economic advancement in Non-Self-Governing Territories prepared by the Committee on Information from Non-Self-Governing Territories at its last ssesion and considers that this report should be studied in connexion with the other reports mentioned above;

2. Invites the Secretary-General to communicate this report to Members of the United Nations responsible for the administration of Non-Self-Governing Territories, to the Special Committee on the Situation with regard to the Implementation of the Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Colonial Countries and Peoples, to the Economic and Social Council, to the regional Commissions, to the Trusteeship Council and to the specialized agencies concerned for their consideration.

3. *Expresses its confidence* that the Members responsible for the administration of Non-Self-Governing Territories will bring the report to the attention of the authorities responsible for economic advancement in those Territories.

ANNEX III

List of Non-Self-Governing	F Territories under	Chapter XI of the
Charter at 31 December	1962 classified by g	eographical region

	Area		Population*	
Territory	(square kilometres)	(squarc miles)	(thousands)	
AFRICAN AND ADJACENT TERRITORIES				
Aden	287,684	111,075	913 (E)	
Angola including Cabinda	1,247	481	4,833 (C)	
Basutoland	30,344	11,716	697 (E)	
Bechuanaland	712,249	275,000	350 (E)	
Cape Verde Archipelago	4,033	1,557	201 (C)	
Fernando Póo	2,034	785	62 (C)	
Gambia	10,369	4,003	284 (E)	
Gibraltar	6	2	24 (C)	
Guinea (Portuguese)	36,125	13,947	574 (E)	
Ifni	1,500	579 224,960	50 (C)	
Kenya	582,646 316	122	7,287 (E) 329 (E)	
Malta	1,865	720	667 (E)	
Mauritius	771,125	297,654	6,592 (C)	
Mozambique	746,256	288,130	2,480 (E)	
Northern Rhodesia Nyasaland	119,311	46,066	2,890 (E)	
Río Muni	26.017	10.045	183 (C)	
St. Helena	122	47	5 (C)	
São Tomé and Príncipe and dependencies	964	372	64 (E)	
Seychelles	404	156	41 (C)	
Southern Rhodesia	389,362	150,333	3,200 (E)	
Spanish Sahara	266,000	102,703	24.6 (C)	
Swaziland	17,363	6,704	266 (E)	
Zanzibar	2,643	1,020	310 (E)	
	2,040	2,020	010 (2)	
SIAN TERRITORIES Brunei	5,765	2,226	84 (C)	
Cocos (Keeling) Islands	13	5	0.6 (C)	
Hong Kong	1,031	398	3,129 (C)	
Macau and dependencies	15	6	450 (E)	
North Borneo	76,115	29,388	454 (C)	
Sarawak	125,206	48,342	745 (C)	
Singapore	581	224	1,713 (E)	
Timor (Portuguese) and dependencies	14,925	5,763	517 (C)	
CARIBBEAN AND WESTERN ATLANTIC TERRITORIES				
Antigua	442	171	54 (C)	
Bahamas	11,396	4,400	110 (E)	
Barbados	431	166	232 (C)	
Bermuda	53	20	43 (C)	
British Guiana	214,970	83,000	561 (C)	
British Honduras	22,963	8,866	90 (C)	
British Virgin Islands	174	67	7 (C)	
Cayman Islands	259	100	9 (C)	
Dominica	789	305	60 (C)	
Falkland Islands	11,961	4,618	2 (E)	
Grenada	344	133	89 (C)	
Montserrat	83	32	12 (C) 57 (C)	
St. Kitts-Nevis-Anguilla	396	153		
St. Lucia	616	238 150	86 (C) 80 (C)	
St. Vincent	389		5 (C)	
Turks and Caicos Islands	430	166 133	32 (C)	
United States Virgin Islands	344	133	32 (C)	
Actific Territories	197	76	20 (C)	
American Samoa	234	90	18 (C)	
Cook Islands	18,272	7,055	414 (E)	
Fiji Gilbert and Ellice Islands	905	349	47 (E)	
Guam	549	212	67 (C)	
New Hebrides (condominium France/United Kingdom).	549 14,763	5,700	60 (E)	
New Hebrides (condominum France/Onited Kingdom).	259	100	4 (C)	
	239	90,540	523 (C)	
Danua		20,040		
Papua Pitesirn Island		2	0.1 (C)	
Papua Pitcairn Island Solomon Islands	29,785	2 11,500	0.1 (C) 124 (C)	

• The population figures are census figures or estimates relating to 1960 or 1961, and rounded to the nearest thousand: census figures (C); estimated figures (E).

AFRICA

CAMEROON: LIBRAIRIE DU PEUPLE AFRICAIN La Gérante, B. P. 1197, Yaoundé. DIFFUSION INTERNATIONALE CAMEROUNAISE DU LIVR: ET DE LA PRESSE, Sangmelima. CONGO (Léopoldville): INSTITUT POLITIQUE CONGOLAIS B. P. 2307, Leopoldville. ETHIOPIA: INTERNATIONAL PRESS AGENCY P. O. Box 120, Addis Ababa. GHANA: UNIVERSITY BOOKSHOP University College of Ghana, Legon, Accra. KENYA: THE E.S.A. BOOKSHOP, Box 30167, Nairabi. MOROCCO: CENTRE DE DIFFUSION DOCUMEN-TAIRE DU B.E.P.I. 8, rue Michaux-Bellaire, Rabat. SOUTH AFRICA: VAN SCHAIK'S BOOK-STORE (PTY) LTD. Church Street, Box 724, Pretoria SOUTHERN RHODESIA-THE BOOK CENTRE, First Street, Salisbury. UNITED ARAB REPUBLIC: LIBRAIRIE LA RENAISSANCE D'ÉGYPTE" 9 Sh. Adly Pasha, Cairo.

ASIA

BURMA: CURATOR, GOVT. BOOK DEPOT, Rangoon. CAMBODIA: ENTREPRISE KHMÈRE DE LIBRAIRIE Imprimerie & Papeterie Sarl, Phnom-Penh. CEYLON: LAKE HOUSE BOOKSHOP Assoc. Newspapers of Ceylon, P. O. Box 244, Colombo. CHINA: THE WORLD BOOK COMPANY, LTD. 99 Chung King Road, 1st Section, Taipeh, Taiwan. THE COMMERCIAL PRESS, LTD. 211 Honan Road, Shanghai. HONG KONG: THE SWINDON BOOK COMPANY 25 Nothon Road, Kowloon, INDIA: ORIENT LONGMANS Calcutta, Bombay, Madras, New Delhi and Hyderabad. OXFORD BOOK & STATIONERY COMPANY New Delhi and Calcutta. P. VARADACHARY & COMPANY, Modros INDONESIA: PEMBANGUNAN, LTD., Gunung Sahari 84, Djakarta. JAPAN: MARUZEN COMPANY, LTD. 6 Tori-Nichome, Nihonbashi, Tokyo. KOREA, REPUBLIC OF: EUL-YOO PUBLISHING CO., LTD. 5, 2-KA, Chongno, Seoul. PAKISTAN: THE PAKISTAN CO-OPERATIVE BOOK SOCIETY Dacca, East Pakistan. PUBLISHERS UNITED, LTD., Lahore. THOMAS & THOMAS, Karachi. PHILIPPINES: ALEMAR'S BOOK STORE, 769 Rizal Avenue, Manila. POPULAR BOOKSTORE, 1573 Doroteo Jose, Manila. SINGAPORE: THE CITY BOOK STORE, LTD., Collyer Quoy. THAILAND: PRAMUAN MIT, LTD. 55 Chakrawat Road, Wat Tuk, Bangkok. NIBONDH & CO., LTD. New Road, Sikak Phya Sri, Bangkak. SUKSAPAN PANIT Mansion 9, Rajadamnern Avenue, Bongkok. VIET-NAM, REPUBLIC OF: LIBRAIRIE PAPETERIE XUAN THU 185, rue Tu-do, B. P. 283, Saigon.

EUROPE

AUSTRIA: GEROLD & COMPANY, Grobon 31, Wien, I. B. WÜLLERSTORFF Markus Sittikusstrasse 10, Salzburg GEORG FROMME & CO., Spengergasse 39, Wien, V. BELGIUM: AGENCE ET MESSAGERIES DE LA PRESSE, S. A 14-22, rue du Persil, Bruxelles. BULGARIA: RAZNOÏZNOS, 1, Tzar Assen, Sofia. CYPRUS: PAN PUBLISHING HOUSE 10 Alexander the Great Street, Strovolos. CZECHOSLOVAKIA: ARTIA LTD., 30 ve Smečkách, Praha, 2. ČESKOSLOVENSKÝ SPISOVATEL Narodní Tlřída 9, praha, 1. DENMARK: EJNAR MUNKSGAARD, LTD. Nørregade 6, København, K. FINLAND: AKATEEMINEN KIRJAKAUPPA 2 Keskuskatu, Helsinki. FRANCE: EDITIONS A. PEDONE 13, rue Saufflot, Paris (V°). GERMANY, FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF: R. EISENSCHMIDT Schwanthaler Str. 59, Frankfurt/Main. ELWERT UND MEURER Hauptstrasse 101, Berlin-Schöneberg. ALEXANDER HORN Spiegelgasse 9, Wiesbaden. W. E. SAARBACH Gertrudenstrasse 30, Köln (1). GREECE: KAUFFMANN BOOKSHOP 28 Stadion Street, Athens. HUNGARY: KULTURA, P. O. Box 149, Budopest 62. ICELAND: BÓKAVERZLUN SIGFÚSAR EYMUNDSSONAR H. F. Austurstraeti 18, Reykjavik. IRELAND: STATIONERY OFFICE, Dublin. ITALY: LIBRERIA COMMISSIONARIA SANSONI Via Gino Capponi 26, Firenze, and Via Paolo Mercuri 19/B, Roma. LUXEMBOURG: LIBRAIRIE J. TRAUSCHSCHUMMER Place du Théâtre, Luxembourg. NETHERLANDS: N.V. MARTINUS NIJHOFF Lange Voorhout 9, 's-Gravenhage. NORWAY: JOHAN GRUNDT TANUM Karl Johansgate, 41, Oslo. POLAND: PAN, Połac Kultury i Nauki, Warszawa. PORTUGAL: LIVRARIA RODRIGUES Y CIA. 186 Rua Aurea, Lisboa. ROMANIA: CARTIMEX, Str. Aristide Briand 14-18, P. O. Box 134-135, București. SPAIN: LIBRERIA BOSCH 11 Ronda Universidad, Barcelona. LIBRERIA MUNDI-PRENSA Castello 37, Madrid. SWEDEN: C. E. FRITZE'S KUNGL. HOVBOKHANDEL A-B Fredsgatan 2, Stockholm. SWITZERLAND: LIBRAIRIE PAYOT, S. A., Lausanne, Genève. HANS RAUNHARDT, Kirchgasse 17, Zürich 1. TURKEY: LIBRAIRIE HACHETTE 469 Istiklal Caddesi, Beyoglu, Istanbul. UNION OF SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLICS-MEZHDUNARODNAYA KNYIGA Smolenskaya Ploshchad, Moskva. UNITED KINGDOM: H. M. STATIONERY OFFICE P. O. Box 569, London, S.E.1 (and HMSQ branches in Belfast, Birmingham, Bristol, Cardiff, Edinburgh, Manchester). YUGOSLAVIA: CANKARJEVA ZALOŽBA, Ljubljana, Slovenia. DRŽAVNO PREDUZEĆE Jugoslovenska Knjiga, Terazije 27/11,

Beograd. PROSVJETA 5, Trg Bratstva i Jedinstva, Zagreb. PROSVETA PUBLISHING HOUSE Impart-Export Division, P. O. Box 559, Terazije 16/1, Beograd

LATIN AMERICA

ARGENTINA: EDITORIAL SUDAMERICANA, S. A. Alsina 500, Buenos Aires. BOLIVIA: LIBRERIA SELECCIONES, Casilla 972, La Paz.

BRAZIL: LIVRARIA AGIR Rua Mexico 98-B, Caixa Postal 3291, Rio de Janeiro. CHILE: EDITORIAL DEL PACIFICO, Ahumada 57, Santiago. LIBRERIA IVENS, Casilla 205, Santiago. COLOMBIA: LIBRERIA BUCHHOLZ Av. Jiménez de Quesada 8-40, Bogotá, COSTA RICA: IMPRENTA Y LIBRERIA TREJOS Apartado 1313, San José. CUBA: LA CASA BELGA, O'Reilly 455, La Hobana. DOMINICAN REPUBLIC: LIBRERIA DOMINICANA Mercedes 49, Santo Damingo. ECUADOR: LIBRERIA CIENTIFICA, Casilla 362, Guayaquil. EL SALVADOR: MANUEL NAVAS Y CIA. 1a. Avenida sur 37, San Salvador. GUATEMALA: SOCIEDAD ECONOMICA-FINANCIERA 6a. Av. 14-33, Guatemala City. HAITI: LIBRAIRIE "À LA CARAVELLE" Port-au-Prince. HONDURAS: LIBRERIA PANAMERICANA, Tegucigalpa. MEXICO: EDITORIAL HERMES, S. A. Ignacio Mariscal 41, México, D. F. PANAMA: JOSE MENENDEZ Agencia Internacional de Publicaciones, Apartado 2052, Av. 8A, sur 21-58, Panamá. PARAGUAY: AGENCIA DE LIBRERIAS DE SALVADOR NIZZA Calle Pte. Franco No. 39-43, Asunción. PERU: LIBRERIA INTERNACIONAL DEL PERU, S. A., Casilla 1417, Lima. URUGUAY: REPRESENTACION DE EDITORIALES, PROF. H. D'ELIA Plaza Cagancha 1342, 1º piso, Montevideo. VENEZUELA: LIBRERIA DEL ESTE Av. Miranda, No. 52, Edf. Galipán, Caracas.

MIDDLE EAST

IRAQ: MACKENZIE'S BOOKSHOP, Baghdad. ISRAEL: BLUMSTEIN'S BOOKSTORES 35 Allenby Rd. and 48 Nachlet Benjamin St., Tel Aviv. JORDAN: JOSEPH I. BAHOUS & CO. Dar-ul-Kutub, Box 66, Amman. LEBANON: KHAYAT'S COLLEGE BOOK COOPERATIVE 92-94, rue Bliss, Beirut.

NORTH AMERICA

CANADA: THE QUEEN'S PRINTER Ottawa, Ontario. UNITED STATES OF AMERICA: SALES SECTION, UNITED NATIONS, New York.

OCEANIA

AUSTRALIA: WEA BOOKROOM, University, Adelaide, S.A. UNIVERSITY BOOKSHOP, St. Lucia, Brisbane, Qld. THE EDUCATIONAL AND TECHNICAL BOOK AGENCY Parap Shopping Centre, Darwin, N.T. COLLINS BOOK DEPOT PTY. LTD. Monash University, Wellington Road, Claytan, Vic. MELBOURNE CO-OPERATIVE ROOKSHOP LIMITED 10 Bowen Street, Melbourne, C1, Vic. COLLINS BOOK DEPOT PTY. LTD. 363 Swanston Street, Melbourne, Vic. THE UNIVERSITY BOOKSHOP, Nedlands, W.A. UNIVERSITY BOOKSHOP, Nedlands, W.A. UNIVERSITY BOOKSHOP, Nedlands, W.A. UNIVERSITY CO-OPERATIVE BOOKSHOP LIMITED Manning Road, University of Sydney, N.S.W. NEW ZEALAND: GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE Private Bag, Wellington (and Government Bookshops in Auckland, Christchurch and Dunedin)

٩

Orders and inquiries from countries where sales agencies have not yet been established may be sent to: Sales Section, United Nations, New York, U.S.A., or to Sales Section, United Nations, Palais des Nations, Geneva, Switzerland.

Price: \$U.S. 0.50 (or equivalent in other currencies)

^{[63}E1]